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ABSTRACT 

In the wake of President Roosevelt's New Deal for labour in the United States, the 

International Woodworkers of America (IWA) experienced tremendous organizational 

growth in both Oregon and Washington. Fea e arrival of the IWA in British 

Columbia, the provincial government enacted thbdustr ia l  Conciliation and ~ r b i t r a t i o a  
4- - e* a means to preserve the industrial peace through state regulation of the class 

struggle. It was at the company town of BlubJber Bav rn Texada Island that the Act was 

tested for the first time in an eleven-month strike between Local 163 of the IWA and the 

Pacific Lime Company. With the failure of the legislation to broker a settlement, the 

union's campaign for recognition was subsequently enveloped by clashes over the common 

law rights o m e  property which limited workers' mobility in the community and the 

criminal laws of unlawfuJ&emb~at jailed strike leaders. Through an investigation 

of the legal struggles between the state, company, and union this project demonstrates that 

the statutory, criminal, and common laws in question were dedicated to the reproduction 

of capitalist social relations by regulating or eliminating the collective political activities 
IC 

of working people at Blubber Bay and, by extension, the arrival of the IWA in BC. As well, 

such struggles reveal the fundamentally different conceptions of legality put forth by the 

union. Furthermore, *is project illuminates the ways in which the expansion of formal - 
collective barzaining contained class struggle and how the law and legal process shaped 

C 

the political choices of working people. Indeed, the Blubber Bay conflict provides a 

window into the role of the state in labour/capital relations; in particular, its capacity 

through consent and coercion to legitimize its role as arbiter of tclassr~e 

secure allegiance to the rule of law, and diffuse oppositional challenges to the existing 

order. 
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INTRODUCTION 

What seas what shores what grey rocks and what 
islands 

What water lapping the bow 
And scent of pine and the woodthrush singing through 

the fog 
What images return ....I 

T.S. Eliot 

It was 21 August 1938. John Stanton sat at his desk. He was worried. Earlier that 

day he received word from Jack Hole, President of Local 163 of the International 

Woodworkers of America (IWA) at Blubber Bay, Texada Island, that officials of the Pacific 

Lime Company might seize control of the union's makeshift picket camp. Although 

Stanton had been the hion's legal counsel for only three weeks, such rumours did not 

surprise him. Indeed, since the collapse of negotiations and the beginning of the strike that 

June, intimidation of unionists and their supporters in the small company town had been 

widespread and, at times, quite vicious. Stanton understood what was at stake there. In 

the early weeks of the strike, both white and Asian workers were evicted from their 

company homes. Thus, in order to have a fighting chance against the company, the union 

needed a space in which to discuss strategy, forge solidarity, and sleep. The key, then, was 

to secure a legal right to the land where the picket camp stood. It was, after all, one of the 

few plots in the community not owned by the Pacific Lime Company. To this end, Stanton 

rolled a clean sheet of newsprint into his typewriter and composed a letter to IWA 

organiser Arne Johnson in Vancouver. He asked Johnson to visit Mr. William Winchester, 



an old resident of the Fraser Valley who owned lot 32 on Texada Island, the site of the 

picket camp. Try to have Winchester register his title with the Crown, Stanton advised, 

because "this is the first step which has to be taken to protect the property." Days later, a 

telegram from District Council Secretary Fred Lundstrum arrived at Stanton's office 

indicating that Winchester had secured his claim to the land an&,also agreed to rent the site 

to the union for one dollar per month. Lot 32 was safely in union hands. In the context of 

the larger battle to unionize Blubber Bay, this was only a small legal victory, but Stanton 

was relieved, at least fbr now. The strikers had a place to hang their hats.' 

He placed the letter in a manila folder alongside the contract he had signed with the 

IWA earlier that month. At the time, the file was slim, containing only a few items. 

However, as the conflict between Local 163 and the company intensified, as the state 

intervened with greater and greater force to bring about a settlement of the dispute, the 

files multiplied, ballooning with all the details. Each letter, note, and article in the files 

was fastened to the next, constructing a narrative of sorts; like trail tape, they marked the 

pathways taken and moments of possibility that emerged during the struggle to unionize 

the Pacific Lime Company from 1937 to 1939. Key points were framed by the charcoal grey 

of Stanton's pencil. The sobriety of a memo, the terse prose of affidavits, the panicked and 

compressed quality of a telegram reveal the topography of the union's struggle. That a 

lawyer would keep such meticulous records about a client is not surprising; that a strike 

for union recognition would generate such official, not to mention officious, 

correspondence certainly is. This was class conflict: a bitter fight over union recognition 

and the provisions of a collective agreement. But as Stanton's actions in securing the picket 
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camp and the girth of his files reveal, it was a struggle shaped extensively by the law, legal 

process, and state intervention. Indeed, at every legal turn, the collective political activity 

of the workers at Blubber Bay was under attack. The arbitration board convened by the 

government refused to recognize the IWA as the sole bargaining representative of the 

workers; common law rights associated with private property limited the workers' ability 

to find a space on the island to meet as a group and discuss union strategy; the criminal 

laws of unlawful assembly and rioting jailed strike leaders to enforce bourgeois 

conventions of proper political discourse. As a result, Local 163 lost the battle at Blubber 

Bay; its attempt to secure an agreement with the Pacific Lime Company was strangled by 

a web of legality -- both statutory, common, and criminal -- and crushed by the force of 

employer-state repression. And it is precisely this phenomenon, the links between the law, 

class struggle, and the maintenance of capitalist social relations as revealed through the 

struggle at Blubber Bay, that is the focus of this project. 

The 11 month dispute between Local 163 and the Pacific Lime Company occurred 

against a backdrop of tremendous change t a h g  place in both international working-class 

politics and national economic and labour policy. In 1935, the Workers' Unity League 

(WUL), the political centre for Communist trade union activity in Canada, disbanded in 

order to create a popular front with its progressive allies to fight the rise of fascism in 

Europe and abroad. To this end, thousands of skilled Communist organizers and militant 

unionists abandoned the struggle to create what WULers called "autonomous 

revolutionary organizations" and joined the ranks of the craft-dominated Trades and 

Labour Congress ( T L ~ ) ,  the Canadian counterpart of the American Federation of Labor 
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(AFL). The dissolution of the WUL was followed by the passage of the Wagner Act by the 

Roosevelt administration and the subsequent meteoric rise of the renegade Congress of 

Industrial Organizations (CIO) in the United States. The Act codified all existing federal 

labour legislation and provided unions with the right to organize and bargain collectively 

with their employers, outlawed "yellow-dog" contracts, and detailed which employer 

practices violated workers' rights to choose their own bargaining  representative^.^ Buoyed 

by the apparent support of the President and the political acumen of Communist 

organizers, the CIO successfully unionized hundreds of thousands of workers in the mass 

production sectors of American indu~try.~ In the Pacific Northwest the new "psychology 

of success" ushered in by the Wagner Act gripped lumber and sawmill workers in both 

Oregon and Washington and produced an organizational boom not witnessed since the 

heroic struggles of 1919.5 By 1938, the MA, a new CIO affiliate, boasted a membership of 

nearly 100,000 workers. 

In British Columbia, however, the situation was quite the opposite. Fearing the 

arrival of the CIO, the provincial government created the Industrial Conciliation and 

Arbitration (ICA) Act. Heralded by some as a Canadian version of the Wagner Act, the 

ICA Act signalled a new interventionist role in labour relations for the state in BC. It 

created the institutional infrastructure and bureaucracy necessary for a review of industrial 

disputes by government appointed commissioners, the operation of conciliation and 
/ 

arbitration hearings, and the enforcement of collective agreements. Despite goverrment 

rhetoric concerning its neutrality, the ICA Act was an attempt by the state to preserve 

industrial peace and stave off the growth of militant unionism through compulsory 



collective bargaining and the legalization of company unions6 The imposition of the Act 

did not go uncontested. At Blubber Bay the organizational muscle of the Communist-led 

IWA and the state's machinery of dispute resolution met for the first time. It was there, 

through struggle and negotiation, that the IWA attempted to refashion both the legal form 

and content of the Ad in line with its own conception of a more socialist society; a society 

where, at the very least, workers could organize and bargain collectively with their 

employers through organizations of their own choosing and exercise the unconditional 

right to strike. 

The rise of the IWA and the making of the ICA Act are the focus of chapter one. 

Against the backdrop of the international's tremendous success under the Wagner Act, the 

leadership of the BC Coast District Council believed that without the assistance of the state 

in Canada it would be unable to unionize a lumber industry well known for its blacklist, 

ruthless repression of union activists, and transient labour force. Thus, despite the ICA 

Act's substantial shortcomings, the union decided to move its organizational campaign into 

BC, hoping that a struggle on the ground might push the government to amend the ICA 

Act and bring it in line with its American counterpart. Both the state and the union saw 

collective bargaining and the legal process as a means to obtaining specific, though 

conflicting, political objectives: for the former, the maintenance of industrial stability; for 

the latter, the potential for "one union in wood." The BC Coast District Council of the IWA 

answered the government's legislative challenge with a campaign to organize the lime 

mine and sawmill workers at Blubber Bay. 
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Chapter two examines the conciliation and arbitration proceedings which took place 

between the state, Local 163, and the Pacific Lime Company in the spring of 1938. It is 

through the multiple legal struggles that took place before the board that the capitalist 

assumptions and values reflected in and reproduced by the Act and the workers' 

fundamentally different conception of who should hold power in the employment 

relationship are revealed most strikingly. Indeed, it is through this clash of perspectives 

that the ability of this new regime of industrial relations to stave off the arrival of militant 

unionism and refashion workers' attitudes about the legitimate role of the state in 

labour/capital relations comes into focus. Woven into this larger battle over the ICA Act 

were other legal struggles between the union, company, and the state. With the collapse 

of negotiations and the beginning of strike action, the campaign to force a collective 

agreement with the company moved to another site of class conflict: the community. 

There, Local 163 found itself locked in a bitter conflict with the company over the use of 

particular spaces within the community: the Pacific Lime Company intimidating unionists 

by restricting access to important roads, the dock, and the local school house; the union 

claiming that its members possessed a customary right to move within the community as 

they pleased. For the company, control over the use of space within the community was 
L 

rooted in its ownership of private property in Blubber Bay. During this moment of 

conflict, the enforcement of such common law rights of ownership was a means to 

eliminating those spaces within which workers' collective political activity was likely to 

develop. The remainder of chapter two provides an analysis of the role and function of 
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the law - specifically the legal relations of public and private property -- in the expression 

and mediation of such class relations and class conflict within a spatial context. 

The battles between unionists, strike breakers, and police over the use of private 

property resulted in %e arrest of many unionists on charges of unlawful assembly and 

rioting, and a police officer for assault. The criminal trials of the Blubber Bay 15 are the 

focus of chapter three. While the arrests and subsequent conviction of most of the strikers 

illuminates the coercive dimensions of state power, the acquittal of a union leader -- an 

alleged Communist - and the conviction of a police officer reveals its ideological function, 

specifically its ability to nurture support for constituted autbrity during a period of 

scrutiny and potential upheaval. It was this tempering of severity with mercy that 

reaffirmed the notion that regardless of class position, all were equal before and under the 

law. Indeed, taken together, the union's brush with the ICA Act, common law rights of 

property ownership, and criminal law of unlawful assembly and rioting illuminate the 

state's ability to shape the texture of class struggle, defeat the union's challenge, and, in the 

end, wash its hands of the entire mess. 

By placing exclusive emphasis on the law, legal process, and the state I have 

departed significantly from the historiography of the IWA. Conventional analyses have 

detailed the rivalries between Communist and non-Communist factions within the union, 

a battle which culminated in the secession of the red-dominated BC Coast District Council 

from the International and the creation of the Woodworkers Industrial Union of Canada 

(WIUC) in 1948. According to Jerry Lembcke the removal of Communists from union's 

ranks came at the behest of the Co-operative Commonwealth Federation (CCF), the 
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American-based White Bloc of conservative woodworkers, other "Cold War warriors" and 

"outright reactionaries" who were determined to 'break the back of the Communist labour 

movement on the west ~ o a s t . " ~  Weakened, demoralized, and cured of its political 

"infection," the renegade WIUC returned to the IWA in 1950. In the context of such 

rivalries, the state matters very little, an4 the Blubber Bay strike even less. In every 

account, the defeat at Blubber Bay appears simply as a temporary "setback" for the IWA, 

a prelude to the breakthroughs and cold warfare of the 1940~ .~  

But in an unpublished doctoral thesis, Stephen Gray has charted new interpretive 

territory in terms of the role and function of the state in the making of the IWA. He argues 

that the rise of the White Bloc within the international was inextricably linked to the 

expansion of industrial legality in both BC and the United States. According to Gray, in 

its drive to organize the lumber industry the Communist union leadership relied on "state 

institutions governing labour relations" at the expense of rank and file militancy and a 

more "radical collective bargaining agenda." As a result, the union fell victim to the forces 

of conservative unionism that the leadership's state-centred approach "called into being 

during the legitimation proce~s."~ His concern with the impact of labour law on the 

politics of the IWA reflects a renewed interest amongst labour historians in the role of the 

state in the making of the North American working class, specifically in the area of 

collective bargaining and class struggle. It is their work, that of the so-called "new 

institutionalists," that I have drawn upon to reconsider the struggle at Blubber Bay. 

At the core of new institutionalism is a rejection of the liberal pluralist view of 

industrial relations which holds labour and capital to be 



self-governing equals, who through collective bargaining, jointly determine 
the terms and conditions of labor power; and ... see[s] the historic purpose of 
labor relations law as nothing more than the facilitation of this purpose.1•‹ 

The pluralist perspective acknowledges the existence of conflict between workers and 

management; but it is understood as structural, rather than rooted in class interests, and 

therefore can be mollified through collective bargaining." Taking heed of Theda Skocpol's 

advice to "bring the state back in," historians such as Christopher Tomlins and William 

Forbath have argued that state in the United States was a neutral arbiter of competing 

social interests. Rather, it was a potent actor which ordered relations between labour and 

capital, routinized workers' experiences and, to borrow from legal scholar Karen Orren, 

established rules and regulations which structured workers' subsequent behaviour and the 

survival of capitalist social relations.'' In his thoughthl study of the New Deal, Tomlins 

has argued that the expansion of formal collective bargaining institutionalized and limited 

class struggle. Thus, as trade unions came to accept the laws, bureaucracy, and party 

politics of the "liberal administrative state" in order to secure new rights, privileges, and 

freedoms more radical ways of interpreting and changing the world atrophied.13 For these 

scholars, unearthing the complex ways in which state institutions shaped labour/capital 

relations holds out the possibility for answering one of the age-old questions of American 

labour history: why no s~cialism?'~ 

Such emphasis on the ideological function of the law reveals the profound influence 

of the Critical Legal Studies movement on the writing of labour history. While the politics 

, of critical legal scholars are diverse, they possess a shared belief that the law is not a closed 

I system of self-referential practices, norms, and rules, but a social construction, one which 
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embodies the dominant sexual, racial, and, perhaps most importantly for my purposes, the 

class commitments of its times.15 For Critical Legal Studies adherents the law is not only 

an instrument ef gross coercion -- "a retaining wall of class power" -- but exists more 

broadly as a form of social practice.16 As Nicholas Blomley has pointed out, legal 

discourses do not act as an 

external structure, but acquire meaning and saliency only in concrete social 
settings. Legal concepts and social relations are mutually intermeshed. Not 
only is there no legal concept that exists in isolation from social life, but it 
becomes increasingly difficult to describe social practices without 
recognizing the legal relations among the people involved.17 

No longer autonomous and objective, the law is understood as deeply ideological, and 

given its reification of individual rights, private property, and the free market, that 

ideology is a variant of liberalism. Understanding both the ways in which the "deep 

structures of law" embedded in daily life have shaped social relations in accordance with 

this "pervasive, yet contingent, social vision," and what possibilities exist for alternative 

legal visions is the primary focus of the Critical Legal Studies movement.18 

Taken together, new institutional and critical legal scholars have provided the 

conceptual tools to re-examine the Blubber Bay strike. In this regard, I have situated 

Critical Legal Studies concerns with "law as social construction" and the "deep structures" 

of law within a materialist context, emphasising the state's ability, through the law and 

legal process, to secure the necessary conditions for the extraction of surplus value and the 

free exchange of commodities. While the state may, at times, demonstrate a degree of 

autonomy from the agendas of specific capitalists, it is, in the end, a capitalist state; which 

is to say, "the accumulation it fosters is capitalist accumulation and the social relations for 
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which it claims allegiance and which it seeks to legitimize are capitalist social relations."19 

Through an analysis of the legal struggles between the union, company, and state, I will 

demonstrate that the laws in question were dedicated to nothing less than the reproduction 

of a particular economic and social order by limiting or eliminating the collective political 

activities of working people at Blubber Bay and, by extension, the arrival of the IWA in BC. 

In so doing, I will illuminate the ways in which the expansion of formal collective 

bargaining structured the actions of working people during this period of overt class 

conflict, what they thought of as just and inevitable, and how the law shaped their political 

choices and expectations. In the end, the Blubber Bay strike provides a lens through which 

to view the complex dimensions of state power; specifically, its enormous ability -- by 

coercion d consent - to legitimize its role as arbiter of opposing class interests, nurture 

consent for the rule of law, and quash "all or most manifestations of opposition" to the 

existing social order.20 



CHAPTER ONE 

In 1935, the Seventh Congress of the Communist International issued a directive to 

their Canadian comrades calling for the liquidation of the Workers' Unity League (WUL) 

and the creation of united front organizations to fight the rise of fascism in Europe and 

abroad. With the disbanding of the WUL, the Communist leaders of the Lumber Workers' 

Industrial Union (LWIU) abandoned their rhetoric labelling social democrats and 

conservative trade unionists "social fascists" and began a vigorous campaign for trade 

union unity in British Columbia. To this end, the LWIU merged with the conservative 

United Brotherhood of Carpenters and Joiners (UBCJ), joining their American comrades 

of the Northwest Council of Sawmill and Timber Workers in Washington and Oregon who 

voted to return to the mainstream fold a year before.' The movement of the Communist- 

directed LWIU (renamed the Lumber and Sawmill Workers' Union) into the UBCJ and 

subsequently the renegade CIO was accompanied by a drastic shift from revolutionary to 

reformist objectives. Before the dissolution of the WUL, the leadership of the LWTU was 

committed to nothing less than bringing about the collapse of capitalism. To achieve this 

goal, Communist-led unions - the self-proclaimed "vanguard of the working-class" -- were 

not to be inhibited by the reformism of social democracy or the false promises of the 

capitalist state.2 With the dawn of the united front, however, calls for the demise of 

capitalism atrophied along with the LSWU's isolationism and rejection of state intervention 

in the class ~truggle.~ The union was still committed to leading the working class to 

socialism, but, as Norman Penner observes, "it now moderated the means by which this 
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would be achieved.It4 For the Communist leadership, this meant a defence of the New 

Deal in America and a tenuous alliance with their former rivals, the United Brotherhood 

of Carpenters and Joiners. 

But the relationship between the LSWU and the Brotherhood, like that of the CIO 

and the AFL, was tense and volatile, rooted in the age-old traditions and politics which 

divided pure-and-simple unionism from industrial uni~nism.~ Indeed, few in the LSWU 

would forget the sell-otlt of the Northwest lumber strike of 1935 orchestrated by Abe Muir, 

executive member of the Br~therhood.~ In Washington and Oregon 30,000 loggers and 

sawmill workers went on strike against some of the largest lumber producers in the Pacific 

Northwest for better wages, shorter hours, and union recognition. The UBCJ's attempt to 

reach a compromise settlement with the employers was bitterly opposed by the 

Communist-led wing of the union. In an effort to crush the left-wing opposition, the 

"corrupt Abe Muir sell-out machine," as one writer for the Lumber Worker described it, 

revoked the charters of several dissident locals, replacing their leadership with loyal Muir 

 supporter^.^ As a result, the strike eventually collapsed under the weight of the union's 

own internal divisions and employer-state repres~ion.~ 

It was not surprising, then, that when the CIO was expelled from the An the fragile 

relationship between the Brotherhood and the LSWU dissolved alt~gether.~ In September 

of 1936 the representatives of the ten district councils of the LSWU gathered in Portland 

to form the Federation of Woodworkers and protest the suspension of the CIO. Harold 

Pritchett, leader of the BC District Council, was elected President of the new federation." 

The UBCJ responded to this unsanctioned gathering of dissident locals by threatening a 
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massive boycott of all IWA-CIO handled products. Though Pritchett went to great pains 

to maintain a united front within the trade union movement, the tremendous success of 

the CIO in the eastern US and its subsequent transformation into a powerful rival of the 

AFL resulted in increased pressure from the lumber workers for CIO affiliation. On 15 

July 1937, delegates from the Federation of Woodworkers convened in Tacoma and voted 

to become an affiliate of the CIO, renaming themselves the International Woodworkers of 

America (IWA). The stage was set for an intense struggle between the leadership of the 

Brotherhood and the IWA for allegiance of the lumber workers of the Pacific Northwest.'' 

The response of the BC Coast District Council of the IWA to the campaign for CIO 

affiliation was cautious, demonstrating a tremendous excitement about the possibilities for 

industrial unionism as well as a sensitivity to the profoundly different political context in 

BC. The drive to organize the lumber workers in BC was at a virtual standstill. Speaking 

to union members at the annual convention, BC Coast District Council Secretary T.J. 

Bradley marvelled at the activities of their counterparts in Washington who were 

successful, with the assistance of the NLRB, at raising wages, improving conditions, and 

signing contracts. "Each time we launched out on an organizational campaign [in BC] the 

bosses have raised wages in an attempt to stem organization," Bradley lamented.12 As a 

result, the large logging operations in Northern BC and the sawmill operations in the 

Lower Mainland remained unorganized. The persistence of the industry blacklist, 

employer-controlled hiring agencies, and outright physical intimidation perpetrated by 

camp bosses and managers left many workers scared to come near the union for fear of 

losing their jobs. With limited resources and few organizers in the field, Bradley 
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recommended that the union consider concentrating their time and energy in one specific 

area in order to establish a beachhead and provide a tangible example of the union's ability 

to take on and defeat large logging operators.13 

Since the AFL/TLC was not interested in organizing the "unskilled" lumber 

workers, the ability of the BC Coast District Council to reinvigorate their organizational 

drive ultimately hinged on their relationship with the CIO. Bradley was well aware of the 

resources and potential symbolic power that came with flying the CIO flag, though he was 

adamant that the unity of the Canadian trade union movement should not be sacrificed on 

the altar of affiliation. "I think that we should ... try if possible to ... continue our connection 

with the Federation of Woodworkers and at the same time stay in the Trades and Labour 

Council," he told the delegates.14 To be successful in BC, the IWA had to walk a fine 

political line. Affiliation with the CIO was crucial in order to speed the drive for industrial 

unionism in the Pacific Northwest. However, it was equally important to maintain their 

connections with the TLC to avoid isolation from the recognized trade union movement 

in Canada. Indeed, without a Canadian version of the Wagner Act, there was no guarantee 

that CIO affiliation would produce the same dramatic success in Canada that it did in the 

US. Thus, if the a d  of affiliation was to translate into organizational gains, it was important 

for the LSWU to perpetuate their links to the TLC's nation wide campaign for union 

rights.15 This was the irony of organizing during the united front period. As Penner has 

observed, in spite of everythmg "they had been told and preached," the Communists were 

now bending "all their efforts to defend the liberal democratic state" and forging alliances 

with those once considered impediments to ~ocialism.'~ 
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Despite the creation of the IWA and affiliation with the CIO, the vast majority of 

BC's estimated 25,000 lumber workers remained unorganized. The blacklist persisted, 

wages continued to drop at some of the largest operations such as Fraser Mills, and the 

expected windfall of resources from the new International did not materialize.17 At the 

first district convention after the founding of the IWA, local presidents and officers spoke 

of hostile employers and the continued physical intimidation of organizers and union 

sympathizers. "The problem is trying to keep old members," one delegate remarked, "we 

cannot get in touch with them if we have no delegates in camps." Hjalmer Bergren, 

president of Local 80, one of the largest on Vancouver Island, agreed, claiming that "as 

soon as they leave the district that is the last you hear from them."18 The lumber workers' 

itinerancy was a throwback to the early days of the industry when they often quit their 

jobs, went on strike, and picketed camps and mills when it suited them.19 At that time, 

protests were sporadic and unwieldy, flaring up briefly then disappearing, often before 

the LWIU was even aware that there was a problem. Protracted disputes were usually 

conducted without a strike fund, the workers living in tent-cities and running in flying 

picket squads. Employers responded to workers' protest by dismissing entire crews and 

hiring replacement workers through their own hiring halls, usually with the state's 

blessing and often beyond the reaches of federal labour legislati~n.~~ The transient nature 

of logging employment made it nearly impossible to maintain a union presence in a single 

camp over an extended period of time, let alone sign and enforce a contract. While the 

launch of the Law Wayne, flagship of the "Loggers' Navy," provided the Vancouver locals 

with a more effective means of contacting the men in the far reaches of the Queen Charlotte 
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Islands and northern coast area, without a stable union presence in each camp its success 

was somewhat limited. 

District President John Brown was well aware of the obstacles facing his twenty- 

four organizers. Addressing the convention, he attempted to put the best face on a 

discouraging situation, holding the state responsible for the union's slow growth: 

We are all fully aware of the difficulties in organizing the lumber industry- 
an industry scattered over the whole of this province. Having no legislation 
on our statute books--legislation that would assist us in bringing about a 
state of organization--having no Wagner Act, having no sympathetic 
President in this Dominion, and having a very hostile set of employers trying 
to intimidate and stop organization; in spite of all this we have 
made.. .progress'.*' 

Like Brown, Bergren was concerned with the union's condition. There was no central or 

urufylng set of objectives he claimed, an absence which made it "rather difficult to activize 

[sic] the members in the camp." He too placed great emphasis on the need for the state to 

play an active role in the organization of the logging ind~stry.~' Indeed, with the state's 

assistance, the IWA hoped to harness the lumber workers' independent instincts and 

penchant for immediate, direct action at the work site, an objective which required more 

resources and discipline than the LWIU had been able to provide during the WUL's 

revolutionary "Third Period." 

While the l e a d e r - p  of the BC Coast District Council discussed their political and 

organizational woes, the IWA district councils in Washington and Oregon were involved 

in a debilitating and often violent series of jurisdictional conflicts with the UBCJ.23 Shortly 

after the workers in seven of Portland's eleven major sawmills voted for affiliation with 

the IWA, the AFL orchestrated a massive boycott to turn back the organizational tide.24 
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When the AFL's campaign finally forced the closure of several mills, Harold Pritchett 

called upon the National Labor Relations Board to decide once and for all which 

organization was the legal representative of the sawmill workersz5 The dispute was 

eventually settled in 1939 after NLRB-supervised elections granted the IWA jurisdiction 

over only six mills. The AFL, who had steadfastly opposed the intervention of the NLRB 

and often denounced its decisions as outright favouritism of the CIO, accepted the 

decision, retaining control of five sawmills. 

Although the IWA was unable to orchestrate a clean sweep of the Portland 

sawmills, Pritchett and the international leadership recognized the crucial importance of 

the NLRB in their drive to unionise the lumber industry. Though its proceedings were 

often costly and bureaucratic, they were in the end less draining for the young 

International than protracted battles in the field with recalcitrant employers and the well- 

funded, well-organized AFL. At the first constitutional convention of the IWA, Pritchett 

railed against the "starvation policies" of the AFL in Portland, charging his rivals with 

collaborating with employers, installing charters behind IWA picket lines, and forcing 

people out of work. For Pritchett, the way out of this jurisdictional quagmire was clear. 

"Our problem in the field of labor is to organize, and, having become organized, to 

demand the right of collective bargaining as the law provides and then to educate our 

people to the true meaning and value of contracts," he ann~unced.'~ The ability of the IWA 

to garner the "respect and admiration" of working people hinged on its ability to provide 

them with a "better deal". With this rhetorical nod to Roosevelt, Pritchett considered the 

NLRB indispensable to achieving this objective. Indeed, it was the heart and lungs of his 



political programme: "We cannot get it without collective bargaining. That is why we are 

creating our Internati~nal."~~ 

Pritchett's emphasis on the sincerity of the IWA's political agenda and the 

importance of bargaining in good faith with lumber operators was as symbolic as it was 

strategic. During this period of great CIO success in the US, state and provincial 

governments, employers, and rival unions frequently resorted to red-baiting to counter the 

drive for industrial unionism. During the Portland campaign, for example, the IWA was 

sub~ected to intense scrutiny and harassment from the Portland Police Red Squad and the 

American Legion Subversive Activities Committee. As well, the House Committee on Un- 

American Activities was becoming increasingly interested in Pritchett's political 

affiliations. In this regard, to organize under the auspices of the NLRB demonstrated the 

legal, as opposed to the "subversive", nature of the IWA's strategy. He was under no 

illusions that the NLRB would completely silence his most reactionary critics. At the very 

least, though, it would pressure obstinate employers to bargain in good faith. As he 

argued 

We are endeavouring to improve standards of living and conditions of labor; 
and we adhere to the policy ... that these things can best come thru [sic] the 
instrument of collective bargaining. We will expect the operators who enter 
into any contracts to live up to their part. This requires of us good 
generalship which has not always been displayed in the past. Failure on our 
part to use good tactics has always been used by the operators in order to 
win public support.28 

Success, therefore, necessitated an understanding of the legality of collective 

bargaining and the ability to present well-documented and effectively argued cases at 

NLRB hearings. By the first constitutional convention, the international leadership had a 



permanent staff of six and a legal department consisting of twelve attorneys. The lawyers' 

primary function was to assist local unions in filing their grievances with the NLRB. As 

well, they served as a conduit to the "central legal department" of the CIO in order to co- 

ordinate legal strategies and share inf~rmation.~~ Pritchett was particularly pleased with 

the capabilities of the new legal department, remarking at the convention that 

in the short period of six or seven weeks that this department has been 
established within our International, we have been able to give immediate 
assistance in 16 cases involving injunction, restraining orders, attachments 
of Union treasuries by the AFL leadership, as well as a large number of cases 
coming directly under the Wagner Act.30 

Pritchett understood that the creation of a bureaucracy required more money.31 However, 

the importance of the lawyers' work and the "magnitude of the problems" which faced 

such "big organizations" justified the additional expenses, even if it meant increasing union 

dues. "We cannot get something for nothing," he thundered. Labour bureaucrats, once 

reviled for their "intimate connections" with the state apparatus, were now considered 

indispensable to the success of "big  organization^."^^ Indeed, the immense importance of 

the law to the successful organization of the lumber industry was captured by one delegate 

who remarked that "[klnowledge is power .... We must not be caught dreaming our way 

through situations. We must read and learn and approach our problems with 

Pritchett's address to the first constitutional convention spoke to the intimate 

relationship which was developing between the NLRB and the IWA. The new regime of 

industrial relations ushered in by the NLRB entailed a drastic restructuring of employment 

relations - new disciplines, new incentives, and a new understanding of trade unionism. 
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In navigating the murky waters of secession, the international leadership sought the 

protection of the NLRB against the determined efforts of the AFL and lumber operators 

to crush the expansion of the CIO. The leadership's political position rested on an 

intriguing paradox. As Christopher Tomlins has observed, the power of employers and 

their allies to resist militant industrial unionism demonstrated the IWA's own incapacity 

to extend the "ambit of collective bargaining unaided."34 However, by calling for state 

involvement in order overcome such resistance, they were by necessity becoming 

intimately involved with a power "over which they historically enjoyed little control."35 

With a US membership fast approaching 100,000, the necessity of the state to the IWA's 

success was indisputable. As the situation in BC indicated, without legal protection it was 

all but impossible to organize an industry infarnous for its blacklist and ruthless repression 

of union activists. Thus, as the government of British Columbia signalled its intention to 

introduce its own version of the Wagner Act, the IWA prepared to push their 

organizational campaign onto Canadian soil. Unlike President Roosevelt, however, the 

Premier of BC, T.D. "Duff" Pattullo, was not about to cede any organizational or political 

ground to the IWA. 

For Pattullo, the severe human and economic consequences wrought by the 

Depression demonstrated the need for "socialized capitalism," a kindler, gentler system 

of economic exploitation mediated through extensive state intervention in civil society. 

Such an endeavour required a new understanding of government and an expert 

knowledge of the possibilities of social planning. Thus, shortly after his election in 1933, 

Pattullo assembled a braintrust and appointed Harry Cassidy, founding member of the 
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Toronto branch of the League for Social Reconstruction, as the director of social welfare. 

Cassidy, who studied extensively at the Universities of Toronto and British Columbia, 

represented a new "government generation" of intellectuals committed to social reform 

through the application of allegedly scientific  principle^.^^ Cassidy's approach to reform 

meshed well with the Liberals' attempt to bring a "mini-New Deal" to British Columbia. 

"Clearly the time had come for a provincial government to turn from the easy-going 

frontier politics of roads and bridges to the politics of social welfare in order to retain the 

confidence of the people," he remarked.37 

Over the course of his first term in office, Pattullo orchestrated the passage of 

legislation which touched upon all areas of provincial jurisdiction. In the area of labour 

relations, for example, the government established a new minimum wage for men and 

women, regulated the apprenticeship system, limited hours of work, and reorganized the 

workers' compensation system.38 Without the financial assistance of the federal 

government, however, Pattullo's program of reform was limited, its most ambitious 

components such as large-scale public work projects and health insurance dashed on the 

rocks of Ottawa's fiscaiconser~atism.~~ Thus, when Pattullo hit the campaign trail in the 

summer of 1937, the "work and wages" rhetoric which animated his first term in office had 

largely disappeared, replaced by an agenda dominated by seemingly endless negotiations 

with Ottawa concerning the nature of Canadian federali~m.~ Yet despite this marked shift 

in political programme, Pattullo reappointed George S. Pearson -- "the keenest exponent 

of social and labour legislation in the cabinet" -- as Minister of Labour.41 Against the 

backdrop of the CIO's spectacular rise and the creation of the IWA, Pearson would 
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introduce the Industrial Conciliation and Arbitration (ICA) Act to the Legislature in 

November, an attempt to use the machinery of government to stave off the arrival of 

industrial unionism. 

From his Government Street office in Victoria, Pearson watched the IWA-CIO's 

organizational success in Washington and Oregon with great unease. Although labour 

relations in BC were "fairly peaceful," he was concerned about the government's ability to 

meet the challenges posed by the inevitable arrival of the IWA.42 The  machinery we have 

in British Columbia for dealing with labour disputes is practically nil," he told the Premier, 

"leaving all power to deal with industrial disputes to the authority of the Federal Industrial 

Disputes Investigation Act [IDIA]."43 Created in 1907, the federal statute provided for 

compulsory conciliation in labour disputes involving essential services such as coal 
* 

production and telephone and railway operations. Although disputants were required to 

appear before a conciliation board, its decision was not binding, nor was there any 

provision for compulsory arbitrati~n.~~ For Pearson, the IDIA was simply inadequate. The 

events unfolding south of the border demonstrated the need for a more comprehensive, 

modernized industrial relations policy, one that was capable of meeting the "threat of the 

radical labour movement."45 

As the government prepared for the first session of the new parliament, Pearson 

wrote a lengthy letter to the Premier expressing his great anxiety over the "sudden" 

increase in "Communistic" activities in BC. The "elements" which were now present in the 

CIO were the "most forceful" in the province, he told Pattullo, and they "have almost 

captured control of the Trades and Labour Council of Vancouver on more than one 



occasion in these years."46 Pearson was particularly concerned with the largest employers 

in the province who refused to negotiate with Communist-led unions, especially those in 

the "heaviest industries" such as logging: 

Every sensible person will admit the justice of the claim of men to organize 
themselves for the purpose of discussing their problems with their 
employers and negotiating terms of employment. This being the case, I am 
convinced that as labour conditions settle themselves in the US, a definite 
attack will be made upon British Columbia .... During this attempt, industry 
will suffer tremendously, through strikes, unless we are prepared to meet 
it?7 

With an "attack" by the CIO looming, Pearson insisted that the government pass legislation 

which permitted working people to organize for the purposes of collective bargaining and, 

at the same time, acted to minimize the pernicious influence of "Communistic" elements. 

It was crucial that the new statute allow workers to affiliate with any organization, be it 

a trade union, company union or employees' association, and submit to compulsory 

conciliation when a strike or lock-out was imminent. While such legislation would grant 

working people great new "privileges," Pearson concluded, there were certain 

responsibilities for unions which "make it impossible for them to disrupt industry without 

there having been a thorough enquiry [by the government] into the merits of the dispute."48 

Pearson's letters to Pattullo revealed his firm belief that the state must act as the 

arbiter of competing social interests in order to safeguard the rights of reasonable, that is 

non-militant, trade unions and, more importantly, employers. It was a position that he had 

laid bare in an address to the Vancouver Trades and Labour Council during his first term 

in office: "To the extent in which you organize for industrial peace, you will have the 

support of the government. To the extent that you organize for industrial war, you have 
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the government's opposition."" The key, then, was crafting the perfect piece of legislation. 

Indeed, the effective management of industrial conflict required an intimate knowledge 

of the relationship between working people and their employers, as well as the proper 

bureaucratic and legal machinery to facilitate a peaceful settlement. According to Pearson, 

when a strike or lock-out was at hand, the belts and gears of "conciliatory action" must be 

"set in motion," the government technicians standing close by with the legislative tools 

required to determine the "merits of the disp~te."~' With the proper care and maintenance, 

the machine would produce fair and equitable decisions with great precision, protecting 

the industrial peace from those who wished to "strike, strike, strike."51 "Machinery" is an 

intriguing metaphor, one which illuminates Pearson's profound belief in the state's 

neutrality and its near-scientific ability to intervene in civil society in order to create and 

maintain harmony between opposing classes.52 Underlying this liberal appeal to 

impartiality, however, was the unwavering assumption that it was only irresponsible 

unions, especially those led by Communists, not bad employers, that were capable of 

fomenting industrial strife. 

As Pearson developed his new piece of legislation and the IWA battled the 

Brotherhood in Portland, the Trades and Labour Congress of Canada (TLC) began its 

nation-wide campaign for trade union rights. Inspired by the success of the Wagner Act, 

the TLC drafted a model bill which called for the right to organize and bargain collectively 

and advised their local counterparts to lobby for its passage at the provincial In 

October, representatives from ninety local unions from across BC met in Victoria to discuss 

the TLC's position." After two days of debate, the assembly endorsed the TLC leadership's 
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recommendations and elected a delegation to meet with the Premier and his cabinet to 

discuss the model bill. According to Percy Bengough, secretary of the Vancouver, New 

Westminster, and District Trades and Labor Council and vice president of the TLC, the 

delegation's agenda was simply to "seek legislation designed to safeguard the interests and 

improve the conditions of the workers in [BC]."55 During the meeting with the Premier, 

Bengough insisted that the government articulate the precise nature of workers' rights "so 

that they [workers] would be placed in a legal position to protect their  interest^."^^ Pattullo 
1 

assured Bengough that he would give the delegation's position "sympathetic" 

consideration, and then adjourned the short meeting. 

Buoyed by the interest generated by the TLC's campaign, the Co-operative 

Commonwealth Federation (CCF) members in the provincial legislature attempted to force 

Pattullo's hand on the issue of union rights.57 After two weeks of "preliminary sparring," 

CCF member Harold Winch introduced a motion based in part on the TLC's model bill, 

claiming that it was even stronger than the one drafted by the union conference in 

Vict~ria.~~ Pattullo answered Winch's challenge by rushing Pearson's ICA Act -- "the most 

drastic labor legislation ever passed in Canada" -- to the legislature, a full year ahead of 

schedule. According to7the Vanmver Daily Province, Winch's antics paid off: "[So] great 

[was] the pressure from organized labor for the CCF Trades Union Bill that Liberal 

members [felt] they must deal with the labor situation without delay."59 

Under the new ICA Act, all disputes between workers and their employers which 

threatened to disturb the industrial peace were subject to compulsory conciliation and 

/ arbitration ~roceedings.~ If the government-appointed conciliation commissioner was 
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unsuccessful in bringing about a resolution, the dispute would be referred to an arbitration 

board consisting of a representative of the workers, employer, and the state. The 

arbitration board was tp function like any "Judge of the Supreme Court," with the power 

to summon witnesses and conduct extensive inquiries61 Unlike the Supreme Court, 

however, the arbitration board was not bound by conventional rules governing the 

admissibility of evidence: "The Board may accept, admit, and call for such evidence as in 

equity and good conscience it thinks fit, whether strictly legal evidence or not."62 Nor were 

the proceedings under the act to be deemed "invalid by reason of any defect of form or any 

technical irreg~larity."~~ In the event that the workers were not satisfied with the 

arbitration board's decision and strike action appeared imminent, they were required to 

provide the government with fourteen days notice before they were legally able to do so. 

For Pearson, the preservation of industrial peace pivoted on the notion of 
t 

"responsible" and "irresponsible" unionism. "There is a wrong way and a right way to use 

the right to organize," he told the House in his staccato speaking style. "There [has] been 

evidence in BC of men attempting to use that right in a manner which brought distress and 

hard~hip."~ Pearson understood that compulsory conciliation and arbitration would not 

solve the "strike question" completely. The legislative coup was to make it all but 

impossible for the "Communistic elements" to gain a foothold in BC to begin with. Thus, 

in addition to the machinery of conciliation and arbitration, section five of the Act granted 

trade unions the right to organize and bargain collectively with their employers while 

upholding the legality of company-organized unions, providing employers with the legal 

leeway to avoid negotiating with militant trade unions.65 Whereas the Wagner Act was 
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drafted with the express purpose of equalizing an imbalance of power in the workplace 

which had shifted drastically in favour of employers during the Depression, the intent of 

the ICA Act was clearly far more limited.66 

The writing of section five came at the behest of a strong employer lobby that was 

launched during the weeks between the first and final reading of the bill. In a letter dated 

10 December 1937, Wendall B. Farris, prominent Vancouver lawyer and Liberal Party 

functionary, wrote to the Minister of Labour informing him that a delegation of prominent 

employers had met with the Premier to discuss the ICA Act, and that amendments to 

section five had been agreed upon.67 "I have now had the opportunity of discussing the 

matter with a number of the group," he told Pearson. "I believe they are beginning to 

realize the wisdom on your part of introducing the present act."68 In terms of section five, 

he continued, "my advice to my clients is that the act as now drawn is in their best 

interests.1169 

As drawn, the Act embodied Pearson's sacred principles of responsible and 

irresponsible unionism. By not recognising trade unions as the sole legitimate bargaining 

representative of working people, employers were quite within their rights to create 

company unions in order to marginalize militant organizations such as the CIO. 

According to the Premier, this was the objective of the new legislation. "The Minister [of 

Labour] has taken the position that while employees have the right to name individuals 

who are not employees as their representatives, they may not name an outside union as 

their representative, though the individuals may be officials of such," he wrote.70 Though 

section five was far more ambiguous than earlier drafts which restricted executive union 



positions to British subjects, for Pearson, the message to union activists was clear: work 

hard, bargain in good faith, and do not dare disturb the industrial peace without the 

government's permissfon." 

Less than two weeks after it was given first reading, the ICA Ad became law. Percy 

Bengough was incensed with Pearson's move to make conciliation and arbitration 

compulsory. "Trade Unionists are not asking for compulsory arbitration. In fact there is 

no such thing. When compulsion is introduced, arbitration ceases," he wrote to the 

Minister. For Bengough, compulsory arbitration represented an unwarranted 

encroachment by the state on the affairs of trade unions, a move that would effectively 

eliminate strike action and compel working people to seek change through the ballot box 

and not the trade union movement." Section five permitted the creation of company 

associations at the expense of legitimate trade unions and workers "can only bargain with 

their employers as individuals or as groups of individuals, through the agency of what, 

in the final analysis, must be termed a company union," Bengough claimed." In a letter 

sent to Pattullo the following summer, he railed against the restrictive quality of the new 

legislation: 

Had [the ICA Act] been drafted by the most rabid opponents of trades 
unionism, they could not have done better. The bill is an absolute negation 
of all the rights and privileges that trade unions have enjoyed throughout the 
dominion of Canada for over 70 years, and by enacting such legislation the 
attitude of the government is decidedly in opposition to the trade union 
movement .74 

On a deeper level, for Bengough, the legislation was an affront to the age-old 
i 
/ tradition of craft unionism which held that collective bargaining was a private activity 
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between unions and employers. He certainly wanted government intervention, but only 

in so far as it provided trade unions with the legal protection necessary to "safeguard the 

interests and improve the conditions of the workers in [BC]." Not only had the state failed 

to outlaw company unions, but with its compulsory provisions, the ICA Act turned 

collective bargaining into a public activity to be conducted by institutions within a 

framework completely controlled by state agencies7' While Bengough's defense of trade 

union rights was certainly apt, with the expansion of the liberal state into the area of 

industrial relations, it was, too, a swan song for pure-and-simple collective bargaining. 

Like Bengough, the leadership of the BC Coast Distrid Council was also irate. With 

rhetoric reminiscent of "Third Period" denunciations of "social fascism," a front page 

editorial in the .Worker chastised the Pattullo government for their complete 

subservience to the logger barons: 

The voices of the ...[ loggers] ... have raised to such a pitch as to threaten the 
profits of the logging magnates and the tranquillity of their parliamentary 
mouthpieces, raised to such a pitch that the department of labour was forced 
to a d  .... True to form [the] Department acted to silence the protesting voices, 
and conjure a halo of righteousness around the boss 1ogge1-s.~~ 

Arbitration was not to be trusted, the editorial argued, as the number of cases won by 

workers could be "counted on the fingers of one ... hand."= Compulsory union registration 

was a hallmark of fascism. "All that we ask is legislation that will grant us the right to 

organize, that will stop the victimization of men for their union principles," it concluded.78 

In the wake of the CIO's tremendous advance south of the border, the BC leadership of the 

IWA had pinned their hopes for an organizational breakthrough on the creation of a 

Canadian Wagner Act. However, the ICA Act owed no conceptual debts to Roosevelt. 



"[Tlhey have the Wagner Act which makes it a penalty for the employer to refuse to 

bargain with the employees as an organized body; they have a national labor relations 

board which is definitely sympathetic to the trade union movement ...," local leader Hans 

Peterson observed. "We have a labour act which is so drafted in the interest of the 

employer in conjunction with the government to make the work of organization a hundred 

times more diffi~ult ."~~ Although the legislation did not protect trade unions, District 

President John Brown advised other local leaders to forge broad alliances with progressive 

organizations in order to make use of the limited opportunities that the Act did provide. 

As Brown argued, 

In the past we have followed the lines of least resistance, and most of our 
strength has been in the smaller camps and factories of the industry. We 
must carry our campaign of organization into the large basic outfits, such as 
Fraser Mills, Chemainus, Port Alberni Mills and the large Association 
Camps. Under the new Act, I believe this can be accomplished. Whenever 
we are sure of a majority vote in any operation, then we must crack down for 
an agreement under the 

Brown knew that such an opportunity would soon be at hand, as a dispute between the 

lime mine and sawmill workers on Texada Island and the Pacific Lime Company appeared 

imminent. 



CHAPTER TWO 

In 1907, the Blubber Bay Lime Syndicate, later renamed the Pacific Lime Company 

(PacLime), built its first kiln, warehouse, and dock at Blubber Bay, on the northern tip of 

Texada Island. At the centre of its operations was the "glory hole," a massive open face 

mine nearly 250 feet deep that opened above thick, undulating beds of pure limestone.' 

The extraordinary presence of the mine was echoed in place names such as Lime Kiln Bay 

and Smelter Road. A G ~ ,  too, in the verse of a local poet: 

The shadows fall -- and at the mine 
The pit with black of night is filled; 

And by the shores of placid lakes 
The swallow's sweet song now is stilled 

'Ti1 morning sun.2 

The miners who worked in the pit climbed down a series of treacherous vertical ladders 

to their work stations, and "[ilf anything went wrong [down] there, they just put 'em in the 

lime sling and brought 'em [back to the surface] in the lime sling." With their pickaxes, 

shovels, and pitch forks the workers extracted raw lime from the earth, loading it into 

metal carts which travelled a network of pathways and boardwalks to the massive kilns 

which overlooked the h a r b o ~ r . ~  Some miners wore wooden shoes as the lime easily 

seeped through the leather soles of regular boots. "The lime ate through everything," one 

miner recalled later, "[it] worked between fingers and into armpits, burning wherever the 

skin was tender."4 On the surface, the greyish blue rock was roasted until it turned 

brilliant white and became a pure lime which was later exported to the BC Lower 

Mainland, Washington, and California. The dense yellow smoke produced by the burning 
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process killed off most of the surrounding vegetation, inscribing the presence of the mine, 

like a scar, on the island's rocky  shore^.^ Beside the quarry was a small sawmill which 

produced lumber for local markets, the tillings from which were used as fuel in the lime 

kilns6 

PacLime was not the first company to mine the natural resources of Texada Island; 

as early as 1860, aspiring capitalists were crossing the Strait of Malaspina in pursuit of 

gold, copper, and iron ore. According to Cecil May, author of M, a local history 

commissioned in honour of the island's centenary, "prospectors, miners, and loggers have 

always been the basis of the population on [the i~land]."~ At the turn of the century, the 

island was a small but bustling centre of economic activity, with seven mines encircling 

the largest village, VanAnda, and agricultural, logging, and sawmill operations at Gilles 

Bay exporting materials to markets throughout the Pacific Northwest. At that time, 

VanAnda was the centre of the island's social life, boasting the only opera house north of 

San Franci~co.~ By the early 1920s, however, most of the mines had closed, leaving 

PacLime and the production of lime from limestone as the primary source of waged labour 

on the island. 

Clustered around the Pacific Lime Company's operations and the government's 

ferry docks was the small community of Blubber Bay. On the west side of the harbour 

were houses that white workers, many of them married, or living with their families, 

rented from the company. Each one was virtually the same, distinguished only by their 

uniformity: peaked roof, wooden porch, picket fence, gravel lane way, and small garden, 

so close to the sawmill that the men could walk to work, so close that their families could 



hear the hum of whirling saws, gears, and chain drives? The single transient white 

workers lived in small houses in VanAnda and Lime Kiln Bay. On the opposite side of the 

bay, perched atop a rocky bluff, worn and broken by the unrelenting action of the ocean, 

was the large two storey bunkhouse where single Chinese men lived.'' The majority of 

PacLime's employees were Chinese; hired by labour contractors, many of them had 

worked at Blubber Bay since the completion of the Canadian Pacific Railway in the late 

1880s." For their rent of one dollar per month, the company provided light, fuel, and ; 
I 
/ 

water. There were no showers for them to wash in after a day in the pit and raw sewage . 

often seeped from the latrines into nearby grass.12 Many of the Chinese workers tended 1 

their own gardens and raised ducks, chickens, and pigs in order to avoid the limited 

selection and high prices at the company store. There were, of course, few other options. 

In addition to a company store, PacLime built tennis courts and maintained the roads and 

docks. The Post and Customs Office, bank, hotel, police station, jail, school house, and 

telephone and telegraph services were all housed in company buildings.13 For many years, 

the only medical service available on the island was that provided by company doctors.14 

Blubber Bay was a company town; it was very small, isolated, and dominated by 

a single employer. The ability of PacLime to order the social and spatial relations within 

the community was extraordinary and virtually uncontested. Its power rested on its 

monopoly of the local labour market, its immense presence in the day to day lives of 

working people and their families, and its ability to respond quickly and effectively to any 

challenges to its authority without fear of prolonged worker resistance.15 Between 1908 and 

1 1936, there was but one incident of labour unrest, a short strike orchestrated by the Chinese 
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employees in the 1920s to protest changes in working conditions.16 "I am given to 

understand on that occasion, the Chinese received from officials of the Company very 

harsh treatment," one government official recalled.17 On 23 July 1937, however, such 

peaceful labour relations came to an end. The quarry workers organized under the banner 

of the fledgling ~ u m b &  and Sawmill Workers Union (LSWU, later the M A )  to protest a 

series of wage reductions instituted by the new company manager, P.J. Maw. Not 

surprisingly, Maw was in no mood to bargain and raised the red scare in an attempt to 

dissuade his seemingly loyal employees from joining the LSWU: 

Please understand that we refuse absolutely to deal in any way with an 
organization that is known to be Communist directed and which is, 
therefore, engaged only trylng to satisfy its own interests without any regard 
for the Workers themselves; as history and recent British Columbia strikes 
have dem~nstrated.~~ 

After a six week strike, PacLime officials conceded a modest wage increase and 

promised to negotiate with a committee of employees, though they steadfastly refused to 

recognize the LSWU as.the sole legitimate bargaining representative of the workers. They 

also agreed to refrain from discriminating against men who were active union supporters 

during the strike.lg "No sooner had the ink dried on the agreement, however, than the 

company began their dirty tricks," local union leader Jack Hole wrote in the Lumber 

Worker. "First this man and then that who had been active in the building the union ... was 

picked out for discriminati~n."~~ It is not surprising that Hole was particularly upset in 

this regard, as he himself was fired on 22 December for his participation in the strike. 

Secure in the knowledge that the union enjoyed the overwhelming support of the workers 

at Blubber Bay, yet concerned that PacLime "was endeavouring to force upon the 



employees a committee chosen by the Company," Hole requested that the Department of 

Labour send a conciliation commissioner to Blubber Bay under the auspices of the seven- 

month-old ICA Act. Hole was determined to win a collective agreement with the Pacific 

Lime Company. It was his hope that with the assistance of the state, the LSWU might 

overcome the company's resolute resistance to unionization. 

The conciliation and arbitration hearings were the site of the legal debates between 

union, company, and'state officials. The union claimed that section five of the ICA Act 

granted working people the unconditional right to organize and greater control over the 

work process. Company and state officials maintained that the statutory provisions of the 

Act should not encroach on the highly-prized, and to them natural, hierarchical and 

exploitative relationship between employee and employer. At stake were not simply 

work-related grievances as they pertained to Blubber Bay, but the legal definition of the 

Act itself, and, by extension, the organizational future of the IWA in British Columbia. 

With the failure of the ICA Act to bring about a peaceful settlement, the struggle for 

unionization shifted to another site of class conflict: the community. During the dispute 

the union and company found themselves at odds over rights of mobility and access, and 

the use of strategic spaces such as the government wharf, roads, and school house. 

Without question, PacLime's immense authority in Blubber Bay rested on its ownership . 
of the means of production and its complete control over the use of private property within 

the community.21 Thus, in order to crush the strike, PacLime attempted to control these 

sites within which a collective working-class opposition was likely to develop. Here, too, 

class conflict was fought on legal terrain as the common law notions of private property 



3 7 

and public access provided the important categories through which both the union and 

PacLime articulated their opposing political positions. Taken together, both the arbitration 

proceedings and the struggle within the community illuminate the constitutive role of law 

in mapping different, albeit related, sites of class struggle where competing 

understandings of legality and, by extension, visions for the proper ordering of society 

were fought 
\ 

Shortly after Hole made his request to the Department of Labour, conciliation 

commissioners William McGeough and James Thomson boarded a Union steamship and 

headed to Texada Island, a trip they would make several times that winter in their bid to 

maintain the industrial peace. Although McGeough and Thomson were able to bring 

about an agreement on several minor issues, they were unable to resolve the most vexing 

of problems - the union's demands for recognition, the closed shop, and the reinstatement 

of workers fired for union activity. Writing to the Minister of Labour in April of 1938, 

McGeough recommended that the government send an arbitration board to Blubber Bay.23 

Pearson agreed and dispatched Judge J. Charles McIntosh to Blubber Bay to chair an 

arbitration board consisting of PacLime official R.D. Williams and local union leader Frank 

Leigh. 

Unlike the informal investigations carried out by the conciliation commissioners, 

the arbitration hearings were a structured affair, in which company and union officials 

called witnesses, launched cross-examinations, and communicated in the formal, official 

tones expected of court  proceeding^.^^ In their opening submission to the Board, Frank 
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Leigh argued for an interpretation of section five that recognized the equality of employer 

and employee. The leadership maintained that 

the time has passed when the question of association was debatable .... The 
employers decide on what terms the products of industries shall be sold to 
the public and the employees claim an equal right to decide on what terms 
their services shall be sold to the employers. The employees of a corporation 
in association are a party in a contract with the employer for the purpose of 
selling their service and labour to the employer and are in no way an inferior 
party, for without them business, which the contract of employment makes 
possible, could not be ~perated.'~ 

For union leaders, the legality of trade unionism was not open to debate; it was their right 

as an equal partner in a labour contract. The workers "are presuming that they have a 

legal and moral right to organize," they proclaimed. It was a position which flowed from 
I 

a fundamentally different sense of the way things "ought" to be: "it is not kindness the 

employees want, it is justice." At issue, therefore, was not the legality of trade unionism 

per se, but only the extent and legitimacy of the IWA's support at Blubber Bay. In this 

regard, counsel for the union, CCF Member of the Legislative Assembly (MLA) Harold 

Winch, went to great lengths to demonstrate that the union was supported by the majority 

of workers at PacLime as demonstrated by an election supervised by McGeough and 

Thomson earlier that month. 

Company officials, however, were not convinced that they were required to 

recognize the IWA as the sole bargaining representative of their employees. "This 

company agrees to bargain collectively with its own employees thru [sic] a Committee 

elected by the employees as a whole," they maintained, "it being understood that the 

Company does not recognize any affiliation between its employees and any outside 



union." Having enjoyed three decades of labour peace, PacLime was clearly not interested 

in dealing with a union committee, let alone one connected to Communism. Wrapping 

itself in the Red Ensign, the company declared that "the union is not a Canadian union but 
\ 

is controlled in the U.S. by the CIO ~rganization."'~ Ironically, PacLime itself was also 

based in the US, the majority of its shares held by the Niagara Alkali Company of New 

In an attempt to further quash the union, counsel for the company, H.I. Bird, 

claimed that union leaders had coerced the workers, especially the Chinese, to support the 

union's programme, arguing that "the company is not satisfied that the Chinese have done 

anything on their own v~lition."'~ In support of this claim, the company presented the 

plight of Tong Yim, a worker who, according to one company official, left Blubber Bay 

because of union intimidation. Company manager Maw testified that: 

I was here when the Chinese No. 47 reported. I went to see this man on the 
wharf. He was in terrible fear. He told us that he had been threatened, that 
he would be put in a barrel and dumped .... He was in such fear he was 
almost "out." We put him in the Company house. The police retrieved his 
effects. He went to town. He made the remark: "No ~nion." '~ 

During cross examination, Winch demonstrated that "Chinese No. 47" was in fact a 

member of the union and thus had no reason to be worried. Maw was clearly caught off 

guard. "I did not know No. 47 was a member of the union," he said, "the Occidental has 

no idea of that which goes on in the Oriental mind."30 Despite such claims about the 

limitations of his own knowledge, Maw did not doubt his ability, or that of other whites, 

to represent the true essence of Asian beliefs. For Maw, the "Oriental mind" was 
>\ 

mysterious and easily persuaded, qualities which bolstered his position that the Chinese 
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did not choose to supp~rt  the union but were coerced by white Communists. "The Union 

majority so frequently referred to by Mr. Winch [was] obtained through the Chinese 

employees," the company argued in its final submission, "the one group of the Company's 

employees who are most susceptible to regimentati~n."~' 

The union leadership was clearly not impressed with the Company's allegations of 

coercion, taking particular offence with their attempt to differentiate between white and 

Chinese workers. "We point out that the Union is a Democratic Organization," they wrote 

in their rebuttal, "and the Chinese consistently attend union meetings, have a free voice in 

the proceedings and vote on every motion or poli~y."~' Furthermore, "in light of their 

rights as workers, and their equal status under the law, there can be no differentiation 

between a worker, whether he be white, yellow, or black."33 Local union leader Jack Hole 

understood the strategic importance of advocating the legal equality of white and Asian 

union members given that Chinese workers represented the majority of the union's 

support at Blubber Bay. Indeed, for the district leadership of the IWA, the legal struggle 

taking place at Blubber Bay was inextricably linked to the international's ability to unionise 

non-white workers throughout the province. Properly interpreted, the ICA Act would 

provide the union with a vital tool to overcome employer discrimination within sawmills 

and logging camps. The sawmills were particularly important to the District Council 

because they employed the great majority of Chinese workers who toiled in the lumber 

industry. To crack such'large operations, then, would bring a tremendous increase in dues 

paying membership and provide the financially strapped District Council with the funds 

to embark on a more ambitious organizational programme. Organizer John McCuish 
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understood the importance of the campaign on Texada Island, remarking to members of 

the District Council that "there is not an Oriental in BC today who is not looking forward 

to victory at Blubber Bay."34 

In addition to union recognition, workers attempted to gain greater control over the 

work process at Blubber Bay. The Pacific Lime Company's operations included the 

extraction of raw lime and the firing of massive kilns, as well as lumber milling, barrel 
- 

making, boat loading, trucking, machine operation, and general maintenance. The 

organization of the work process was characterized by a well-defined racial division of 

l & o s  Whites occupied the skilled positions within the sawmill, while both whites and 

Chinese workers worked in quarry, boat loading, and general repair work, though, on ; 

average, whites received higher wages for similar work in the q~arry.3~ It had been the 

"sustom of the -, and concurred in by the employees generally, that when the 

staff is reduced the work is divided among the men by a system of r~ ta t ion . "~~  In recent 

years, however, the company had consulted several efficiency experts and the entire work 

process was being reoiganized in the name of increased productivity. 

In this regard, the union leadership demanded that job-sharing be preserved, 

especially in the area of boat loading, and that all boat loading crews consist of equal 

numbers of white and "Oriental" labour. As well, they insisted that the Company establish 

a minimum wage of 45 cents per hour for both white and Oriental workers and that the 

company agree to hire union men only.37 Racial parity in boat loading was tremendously 

important, they argued in their final submission, because, there were many married white 

men that needed to work in order to support their families.38 Not surprisingly, counsellor 
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Bird steadfastly refused all of the union's overtures, remarking that such demands were 

"designed to draw control from the company and place it in the hands of the [union] 

C~mmi t t ee . "~~  For company officials, job-sharing and the closed shop represented an 

encroachment on the rights and privileges that traditionally belonged to masters, not 

servants, and PacLime reserved "the right to hire and fire in the exercise of its discretion 

and the best interests of the company."40 

After weeks of negotiations, the arbitration board's decision was a complete 

repudiation of the union's agenda. In particular, their decision refused to grant the IWA 

an exclusive seat at the bargaining table, offering instead the creation of a "grievance and 

negotiation committee" consisting of union and non-union workers and company officials 
. 

who would "dispose of any matters which ... affected the general working conditions and 

the welfare of the ~rganization."~~ The proposed agreement allowed workers to organize 

while simultaneously limiting their choices to "responsible unions," or in this case, 

company associations. As well, the board granted a modest wage increase and ordered 

the company to re-employ workers -- including union leaders -- dismissed for union 

activity. That the Board refused to recognize the IWA as the sole collective bargaining 

representative of the employees is not surprising; it was, after all, in keeping with the 

government's intention of maintaining industrial peace by heading off the growth of 

industrial unionism in the province. "The purpose of the Act is to bring about settlement 

of disputes ... by discussion, deliberation, and conciliation in order to avoid extreme action," 

Pattullo said in a radio address, "a strike is a form of civil war, and in my opinion, instead 

of being the first weapon to be used, it should be the last."42 
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to organize, at least in the 

period before the Taft-Hartley amendmentst4 the ICA Act failed to redress the tremendous 

imbalance of power which existed between employers and workers thereby ensuring that 

it survived into the modern world of collective bargaining.44 Indeed, the Board's decision 

to deny the IWA the right to represent workers was rooted in a historically specific world 

view which upheld einployers as figures of authority to be treated with loyalty and 

respect, considered hierarchy in the workplace necessary and just, and viewed collective 

activity with suspi~ion.~' Moreover, by granting the union a modest wage increase, the 

Board was not staking out a new interventionist role in the area of wages. Rather, Judge 

McIntosh was simply reaffirming the role of the free market as the only index of fair 

wages: 

I cannot see how it would be helpful at all to the Board to enable us to arrive 
at the proper payment of wages to the men [by considering] what the 
company is or is not earning; in other words, the men do certain work in the 
company's employ, and they are entitled to a certain wage. Whether the 
company makes a million or loses a million, it is no concern of the Board.46 

In short, the Board wasnot a neutral arbiter of two competing interests; indeed, embedded 

in its decision were the conditions necessary for the preservation of capitalist social 

relations. 

The IWA district executive was infuriated with both the award and, in particular, 

with the ineffectiveness of Harold Winch during the Board's proceedings. "[Winch] should 

have been deeply suspicious of the ... objectionable clauses," District President Jack Brown 

opined in the people's A d v o e .  "The assistance of MLAs in labor disputes is valuable 

and welcome but it is a dangerous practice to turn the union's business over to them."47 



Tod McLennan echoed Brown's frustration, arguing in a stem letter to Attorney-General 
. 

Gordon Wismer that the creation of a grievance and negotiation committee violated the 

workers' right to elect their own representatives by a majority vote. McLennan was not 

calling into question the legitimacy of the ICA Act; rather, he was challenging the board's 

interpretation of the infamous section five: 

Our council is seriously concerned with the situation at Blubber Bay, 
realizing that it may involve the entire labour movement of British 
Columbia .... Therefore, for the sake of industrial peace, we are requesting 
you ... to use your influence to have ... a decision in conformity with the 
Act ... brought down.48 

"Once an Arbitration Board is appointed," Wismer deftly replied, "they are an independent 

body having functions of a judicial nature, and the Government can in no way interfere."49 

In his opinion there was nothing spurious about the Board's decision to prevent the 

unionization of Blubber Bay; it was, after all, in keeping with both the letter and intent of 

the law. 

The District Council's first brush with the machinery of collective bargaining was 

a complete disaster. "If [the Act] had been interpreted to the word, ... it might have been a 

factor in bringing about organization. [Pearson] has seen fit to interpret the act the way 

he sees fit," President Brown ~ontended.~' Unlike their American counterparts who 

enjoyed tremendous growth under the auspices of the NLRB, the District Council was 

unable to secure an agreement under the ICA Act.51 "Our gains ... to date have been nil," 

Secretary McLennan concluded, "no other union has given this [legislation] a better try- 

out." To which organizer Arne Johnson replied: "It seems to me we put too much faith in 

[the act]."52 Despite such scepticism, no local leaders or members of the District Council 
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executive called for a categorical rejection of state involvement in industrial relations. 

They were not arguing against the new regime of industrial relations, but about it, calling 

into question the interpretation of the law, not its utilization. As Hans Peterson, President 

of Local 71 in Vancouver, remarked just weeks before the union's annual convention: 

"Every effort should be made to utilize the [ICA 

Back in Blubber Bay, the award was posted in the company bunkhouses and 

distributed throughou't the community in both English and Chinese. On 18 May 1938, 

government and company officials, union leaders, and workers attended a large meeting 

at the local schoolhouse where the award was finally put to a vote. After several speeches 

and some discussion, the workers voted overwhelmingly to reject the Board's decision. 

The local union leaders justified the vote by declaring that the decision violated their right 

to collective bargaining.54 In a last-ditch effort to broker a peaceful settlement, the 

Department of Labour sent McIntosh back to Blubber Bay. According to Jack Hole, 

McIntosh was able to persuade company officials to eliminate the offending clauses from 

the original decision. However, "when it came to working out a plan for the reinstatement 

of the 23 blacklisted men, the company crossed up, [protesting] that they must protect their 

loyal  employee^...."^^ It was at this time, "having no other alternative ... to bring about an 

amicable settlement," that the workers elected to go on strike. On 2 June, 102 of the 156 

employees at PacLime walked off the job.56 

With the rejection of McIntosh's decision the struggle for union recognition shifted 

from the arbitration hearings to the community where the union and company battled over 

access to, and use of, certain strategic spaces within Blubber Bay.57 PacLime responded 
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swiftly to the workers' challenge by posting eviction notices in the Chinese workers' 

bunkhouses and threatening to remove several white workers from company houses.5s 

Initially, the workers in Lim Yim's bunkhouse refused to leave, prompting company 

officials to wire Victoria for assistance: 

Our Chinese employees at Blubber Bay refuse to vacate bunkhouses after 
due notice STOP propose to effect removal of these men after eight AM 

, 

Friday morning using only necessary force to effect purpose STOP 
contemplate resistance which may result in breach of peace STOP urge that 
adequate force of police be immediately available to prevent breach of 
peace[.I5' 

The Provincial Police came to the aid of the company which they would do frequently over 

the course of the strike by escorting the Chinese workers to the wharf to await the next 

Union Steam~hip.~' 

Shortly after the eviction of the Chinese workers, company officials and their police 

escorts attempted to remove Elizabeth Maylor from her home. Maylor, whose two sons 

were on strike, was a long-time resident of Blubber Bay; her home was built by local 

workers after the death of her husband, a one-time PacLirne employee. "I was afraid to 

open the door," she recounted later, "but asked [the company manager] to leave the 

[eviction notice] at the door .... This he refused to do, but raised his voice ...in a threatening 

fashion [insisting] that I open my door .... I again refu~ed."~' Speaking to a union lawyer, 

her son, Roy Maylor, described his experience of being beaten and robbed by strike 

breakers in the presence of the police while he was walking to the store for groceries.62 

"On the way [to the picket camp] we stopped at Mrs. Maylor's house," a strike supporter 

recounted in the Powell River Town Crier. "We were told that the inmates had nothing to 
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eat for some 24 hours, not having dared to step outside."63 It was an incident that would 

later be highlighted in IWA posters and handbills which combined chivalry and 

nationalism to encourage greater support for the strike: 

A COMPLAINT IS BEING LAID ... AGAINST ACTIONS OF THE POLICE 
WHO STOOD BY WHILE COMPANY OFFICIALS ATTEMPTED TO EVICT 
A WIDOWED RESIDENT .... Her two sons are on strike, and the company has 
been trying to drive her from her home, hoping to intimidate her sons back 
to work .... This isonly a sample of the tactics of the New York owned Pacific 
Lime Company.@ 

Other tactics included restricting access to local roads that linked white workers' homes 

to the government wharf, and requiring children who wanted to continue attending school 

during the strike to present a pass signed by company official P.J. ~ a w . ~ '  Telephone and 

telegraph services housed in the company offices were declared off limits, unless one was 

accompanied by a police escort.66 The People's Advocate reported that PacLime's entire 

operations were encircled with barbed wire.67 Clearly, it was an attempt to quash the 

strike by eliminating those spaces within which union members could mobilize in order 

to contest the company's power.68 

With the compmy mobilizing to "carry on its operations to the best of its ability," 

IWA officials searched for strike supporters, scouring the skid road area of downtown 

Vancouver for unemployed men who would accept a few dollars in exchange for a trip to 

the island and some time on the picket line. With the assistance of the Ladies Auxiliary, 

union secretary Tod McLennan canvassed community and church groups for donations 

of food, eventually securing tons of vegetables for the strikers, while the Vancouver Trades 

and Labour Council and the B.C. Maritime Workers Federation considered refusing to 
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handle Blubber Bay lime.69 In Blubber Bay, a picket camp was set up tucked away in a 

meadow one kilometre from the Pacific Lime Company's operations. There, the Chinese 

strikers slept in tents and ate at a makeshift soup kitchen run by Lim Yim, joined 

occasionally b i  white union supporters from VanAnda, Powell River, and Vancouver? 

Years later, IWk organizer John McCuish remembered his time there: 

Them strikers stuck with it right through, and I tell you what they lived on. 
There was a lot of Chinamen. These Chinamen went ouht [sic] on the docks 
and on the rocks they caught rock cod. They killed deer. There were quite 
a few pheasant on the island and they lived mostly on that. That island was 
full of little deer. I don't think any of them would dress over 60 pounds. But 
they were around there 

The union's mobilization retained the racial divisions which marked the social geography 

of the community. In the early months of the dispute, white unionists picketed the 

government wharf each time a steamship came to call, while Chinese strikers were 

responsible for keeping the picket camp in order." When Yim Lim later became ill and 

was unable to continue his duties as cook, local officials sent word to Vancouver to see if 

"another Chinaman" could take over.73 

The racial divisions within the camp would change over the course of the dispute, 

however, as Chinese workers were needed to bolster a picket line weakened by the arrests 

of several white unionists for obstruction of justice and common assault after a scuffle on 

the government wharf with replacement workers and police on 20 July 1938.74 The clash 
- 

occurred after the Union steamship Capilan~ arrived at Blubber Bay. Awaiting the ship 

on the government wharf was a crowd of nearly 40 strikers and their supporters -- some 

mingled, others marched. As the gangway was lowered, the group surged forward to 



to meet the replacement workers who were arriving under police supervision. Union 

member Yim Kee stopped to speak with several strikebreakers as they attempted to 

sidestep the crowd. According to rookie police constable Thomas Campbell, Kee attacked 
\ 

one of the scabs, "showering" him with "blows" about the face and head. "[Wlhile carrying 

out the arrest [Keel kicked me on the shins and drove his elbow into my stomach," 

Campbell reported later: 

the women and white pickets were shouting encouragement to the chinese 
[sic] to keep on fighting the police. These chinese [sic] were endeavouring 
to take Yim Kee away from me, and while I was struggling .... I was 
struck.. .on the side of my head ... .I was momentarily dazed .... At this time 
[Officers] Martin, Hulme, and Ellis were occupied in quelling the shouting 
pickets." 

The ensuing melee resulted in the arrest and conviction of fifteen unionists and their 

That such a pitched battle between police and strike supporters took place on the 

dock is not surprising; it was, after all, the principle access point to the island, a site where 

replacement workers arrived and lime was loaded on ships for export to regional markets. 

Since the success of strike action depended on the union's ability to prevent both the arrival 

of new labour and the export of Pacific Lime products, control of the dock was absolutely 

crucial. It was perhaps the most effective way to immobilise the company and force a new 

collective agreement. In the context of Blubber Bay, the wharf was also a highly symbolic 

place, a monument to the company's fantastic ability to shape the social relations of 

everyday life. To seize the dock, then, was to challenge the very basis of PacLime's 
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immense political and economic power: its ability to carry on its business ilna its authority 

over the use of space within the ~ommuni ty .~  

With the eviction of Chinese workers, restriction of access and mobility within the 

community, arrests of strikers, and the arrival of replacement workers, the local Executive 

and District Council stepped up its efforts to secure the support of other unions and 

progressive allies. They also hired a young politically active labour lawyer named John 

S t a n t ~ n . ~ ~  A member of the Communist-led Canadian Youth Congress and future member 

of the Communist Party of Canada, Stanton was called to the bar in 1936 where he would 

represent working people and their unions for the next forty years.79 Stanton worked 

closely with Jack Hole and CCF MLA for Comox Colin Cameron, defending strikers 

charged with unlawful assembly and rioting and challenging the activities of the police, 

the company, and the state. His first item of business was the retrieval of personal 

belongings left behind by the Chinese workers after their eviction earlier that summer. 

"Aside from [the] comparatively minor question of you having evicted my clients 

illegally ... is the more serious matter of their chattels," Stanton wrote to company 

superintendent Oswald Peele. "[They have not been returned] to their rightful owners in 

spite of repeated demands."80 PacLime officials had no intention of returning the clothes, 

tools, and food in question, arguing that the employees were given plenty of time to pack 

their belongings and vacate the bunkhouses. "They had eleven days notice, didn't they?" 

a company lawyer retorted.'l 

As a result, Stanton, Colin Cameron, and strike supporters Lim Yim, Joe Yim, and 

Joe Eng, went to Blubber Bay in order to retrieve the goods. By entering the bunkhouses 
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without permission from company officials Stanton was challenging PacLime's authority 

over private property and, in this particular instance, he believed that the common law 

was clearly in the union's favour: 

When anyone has been unlawfully deprived of his goods he may lawfully 
reclaim and take them wherever he happens to find them but not in a riotous 
manner or attended with breach of peace, although he can justify an assault 
made for the purpose of recapturing after demand and refusal ....82 

The young lawyer and his entourage were promptly arrested for trespassing and 

questioned by Constable Williamson in a small company house which also served as a 

jail.83 "The whole incident did not take more than ten minutes," police Sergeant T.D. 

Sutherland reported to the Attorney-General. "It was obvious that the episode had been 

planned and Williamson showed good ~udgement [by not charging them] and defeated 

their purpose."84 

Sutherland was the commanding police officer in Powell River and in charge of the 

small detachment assigned to Texada Island. He often walked the beat in Blubber Bay 

himself and even monitored union leaders' telephone calls. In a letter to the Attorney 

General, he reported that after their arrest, 

Cameron ...g ot on the phone and he and Stanton talked to [CCF MLA for 
North Vancouver] Grant McNeill [sic]. For your confidential information I 
might point out that a check is made on such calls and the conversation in 
part is as  follow^....^^ 

Sutherland went on to provide a verbatim account of the entire discussion, concluding that 

"these men are unscrupulous and that their aim is to get publicity at our expense ....In spite 

of all their telegrams, phone calls and letters of complaint regarding the Police, ... the 

officers here have behaved ~plendidly."~ His report reveals that strike supporters were 
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under close surveillance by police informants. Indeed, just days before Stanton's scuffle 

with Williamson, Sutherland had instructed two of his "splendid" officers to attend a 

meeting of strike supporters in VanAnda organized by MacNeil. Shortly after, he wired 

the contents of MacNeil's speech to Victoria: 

MacNeil [sic] remarks were directed against the government, the police and 
Pacific Lime Co and he appears to have dealt only with the strike, decrying 
authority and suggesting that the strikers could not lose. I consider an officer 
should be on duty at such public meetings in public interests.87 

MacNeil was incensed by such a blatant attempt by police to intimidate "local residents 

who might be suspected as sympathizers for the strikers."= The Attorney-General assured 

him that the they were only doing their duty and were attending the meeting at the request 

of certain "residents [who] objected to the use of the school for a political meeting."89 

Without question, such intimidation was an expression of raw class power. In this 

particular instance, not only was Stanton unable to enter the company bunkhouses without 

being arrested, but strike supporters were not allowed to use the phone, certain roads, or 

the school house in Blubber Bay without special permission from company officials or the 

police. Elizabeth Maylor knew this. So did Colin Cameron, as he wrote: 

In general the situation here is wholly intolerable - the general public can get 
no satisfaction from the provincial police who are very evidently taking their 
[orders] from the Pacific Lime Co .... Unless speedy action is taken to put a 
stop to these occurrences the repercussions may be serious.90 

Indeed, this was an attempt by company officials, with the assistance of the police, to 

eliminate those spaces within which unionists and their supporters were likely to foment 

their oppositional ~hallenge.~' For the company, the maintenance of class relations was 

inextricably linked to its control over the use of private property within the community.92 
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After lengthy discussions with residents of both Blubber Bay and VanAnda, Stanton 

protested to both government and Pacific Lime Company officials. He demanded that the 

strikers be granted the "right to full and unrestricted access" to the telephones, the post and 

customs office, and the roads connecting their homes to the government ~ h a r f . 9 ~  "Aside 

from the fact that, nominally at least, you do not employ the police and have no right to 

say what their duties shall or shall not be," Stanton wrote to Superintendent Oswald Peele, 

"it is quite out of order for you to make such rulings."94 By insisting that they were "out 

of order," Stanton was not suggesting that the company transgressed a particular 

government statute or regulation. Rather, he was accusing the company of violating the 

workers' shared understandings of what was 'just' behaviour: 

In former years it was the custom of the company to keep the road open as 
a public thoroughfare, and to close it only on one day each year, thus 
indicating that the road was private property .... I am therefore writing to you 
to ask whether ... any ruling has been made as to the rights of residents to 
have free access.95 

The chief engineer at the Department of Public Works informed Stanton that the road in 

question was "apparently a private road" and, despite custom, the government could not 

"force the company to throw it open even for public use."96 

The legal distinction between public and private spaces was equally important to 

Stanton's exchange with the Ministry of Education concerning the accessibility of the local 

school house to strike supporters and their children. "The company has ruled that after 

5 p.m. the school ceases to be a public place and can be used for company purposes," 

Stanton wrote to the Minister of Education. As well, children travelling to school had to 

pass through company property and, since the beginning of the labour dispute, were 
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"required to have passes signed by management."97 What is the jurisdiction of the 

Ministry, Stanton asked, "and will you also let me know what status the school grounds 

enjoy when they are not defined by any fence -- i.e where they may be said to begin, and 

where they end?"98 

Stanton's request for a more precise mapping of these spaces was anchored in the 

experiences of local residents who shared conceptions of customary rights of usage, which 

historically meant unrestricted access and movement within the community.99 For 

company and state officials, however, notions of "public" and "private" were inextricably 

linked to the rights associated with the ownership of property, a legal relationship which 

effectively disempowered and exploited propertyless wage workers in the name of capital 

accumulation and labour peace. That workers and company officials were at odds over 

the legality of such actions reveals that the spaces in question were not simply empty 

geographic containers, but were invested with considerable political and ideological 

significan~e.'~~ Indeed, it was a conflict over the proper legal definition of space that 

would be used to regulate and give meaning to social life.''' 

In order to re-establish traditional rights of access and mobility, Stanton made a 

formal application to the Provincial Secretary to have Blubber Bay declared a "company 

town" in accordance with section three of the Company Towns Regulation Act. The Act 

stated: 

Where any one hundred or more persons employed by any company in or 
about any indu'strial operation or business carried on by the company are 
living or sojourning on lands owned, occupied, or controlled, either directly 
or indirectly, by the company, the Lieutenant-Governor in Council may, by 



Order, ... declare those lands together with any adjoining lands ... to be a 
"company town" ... .lo2 

Although such a request may at first appear peculiar, according to the Act, ironically, the 

legal status of "company town" brought with it a clarification of spatial relations: 

...in any company town ... every member of the general public shall have the 
right at all times, without further license than the provisions in this Act 
contained, to use and enjoy all those roads, streets, and ways as free and 
uninterrupted rights-of-way, ingress, egress, and regress for persons, 
animals, and vehicles, loaded and unloaded, for all purposes .... 103 

In response, the Provincial Secretary offered, upon receipt of a "proper description of the 

area," to consider the matter further.lo4 Stanton's efforts were an attempt to secure the 

customary geographies of social life -- to secure "~ustice" -- through the structured legal 

channels of the state. 

Although this appeal may seem somewhat conservative - a return to the way things 

used to be - at this particular moment of class conflict, such customary rights of mobility 

and access posed a considerable challenge to the company's capacity to limit strike action. 

The ability of unionists to gain access to a telephone without the presence of police 

informants and to a meeting place to discuss strategy and forge solidarity was crucial to 

the development of a more powerful opposition to the company. To call into question the 

spatial relations within the community was to challenge one of the most obvious 

manifestations of the company's political power, power which was rooted in its control of 

property. 

k 
b In September of 1938 another confrontation on the dock erupted. This time the 



for one man, death. As a result, Stanton's attempt to restore customary spatial relations 

was abandoned because his time and legal knowledge was needed to defend strikers 

charged with assault, unlawful assembly, and rioting. His actions, however, reveal that 

the law was deeply imbricated in the important day-to-day routines of social life, 

mediating their expression within a spatial context.105 Indeed, concealed within legal 

praxis were a multitude of geographies; in this particular instance, the public and private 

spaces - "the encompassing and encaging spatializations of social life" -- associated with 

the historical development of capitalism.106 

Throughout this moment of overt class conflict, union leadership, rank-and-file 

workers and their supporters were enmeshed in a web of legality, walking, as E.P. 

Thompson has written, within "visible or invisible structures of law."lo7 The ICA Act 

existed alongside the common law notion of assault and obstruction of justice; the 

Company Towns Regulation Act challenged the legal categories of private access and 

public space rooted in property ownership; the rights of landlords ran roughshod over the 

tort of possession. Clearly, the law did not rest on any particular level of activity. In the 

words of Thompson, the law "was at bloody level; ... it contributed to the definition 

and self-identity of both rulers and of ruled; above all, it afforded an arena for class 

struggle, within which alternative notions of law were fought out.lo8 

The crucial point, though, is not simply that the law was everywhere, but that its 

enforcement shaped the timing and spacing of human activity to produce, what one 
I 

scholar has called a "unified economic space," one which guaranteed the maintenance of 

production, the discipline of workers, and the accumulation of surplus value.lm At its 
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ideological core, the ICA Ad was deeply suspicious of collective behaviour, reified the free 

market, and sought to protect, not alter, the age-old exploitative relationship between 

master and servant. At the same time, by entering and centrally coordinating the activities 

of labour and capital through its own modernized infrastructure, it represented a new 

interventionist role for the state in industrial relations. The Act's power, then, was both 

coercive and ideological: it possessed the remarkable capacity to prevent the unionization 

of Blubber Bay, and provided the union leadership with a new legal vocabulary to 

describe and interpret class politics. This system of knowledge erected limits and set 

boundaries to what was considered possible for the union and ultimately supplanted a 

more incisive critique of the province's political economy and the legal regime of which 

the Ad was apart.''' Taken together, the application of the Act and the enforcement of the 

social geographies of property ownership facilitated the maintenance of capitalist social 

relations on the island. 

There were undercurrents of possibility. Indeed, state intervention and employer 

repression often elicited sophisticated and immediate responses from working people, 

illuminating the immense potential of localized or community-based notions of justice. 

At times competing notions of what was "just" behaviour emerged, standing in stark 

contrast against the formal, structured mechanisms of dispute settlement: "[We] have a 

legal and moral right to organize," the union argued before the arbitration board; it was 

"custom of the company to keep the road open," Stanton maintained in the face of 

employer intimidation. In the summer of 1938, however, such challenges were largely 

unsuccessful as the sheer might of both PacLime and the state, backed by the full weight 
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of the law, overwhelmed the fledgling local. As the summer of 1938 came to a close, union 

lawyers found themselves before the Assize courts as dozens of union members stood trial 

for unlawful assembly and rioting. It is to the Assize courts that we now turn. 



CHAPTER THREE 

We meet today in Freedom's cause 
And raise our voices high; 

We'll join our hands in union strong, 
To battle or to die. 

Hold the fort for we are coming-- 
Union men, be strong. 

Side by side we battle onward, 
Victory will come. 

Look my Comrades, see the union 
Banners waving high. 

Reinforcements now appearing, 
Victory is nigh.' 

With these words, the Blubber Bay strikers greeted the steamship Chelohsin as it 

pulled into the harbour on 17 September 1938. Against a backdrop of hand-painted 

banners that proclaimed "Strike on Here" and "No Scabs Wanted," residents marched 

across the government wharf to prevent the arrival of replacement  worker^.^ "Here come 

the scabs among us," union member Robert Gardner shouted as the gangway was lowered, 

"look boys, here come the  scab^!"^ Sergeant Sutherland and the other constables were 

anxious for they had witnessed this scene before and knew its violent potential well.4 "I 

told [Jack Hole] to get his men to their own side of the dock otherwise there would be 

trouble," the sergeant recalled later.5 As the police waded into the crowd to prevent the 

unionists and strike breakers from colliding, a fight broke out, then another, until the 

entire wharf was engulfed by the anger, frustration, and disappointment of the past 12 

months6 The police officers, many of whom were in Blubber Bay for the first time, drew 
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restore order. With the choking gas hanging fresh in the air, the struggle spilled on to 

nearby roads, where picketers and strike breakers lobbed rocks at each other.7 Windows 

were broken; so were bones. Late that night eleven strikers and company men were 

admitted to hospital in Powell River. Just as quickly as the melee had begun, it dissipated 

into the night, marking the beginning of the final phase of the struggle at Blubber Bay. 

When word of the riot reached the strike and relief committee in Vancouver, Colin 

Cameron left immediately for Blubber Bay, followed two days later by Harold Winch, 

John McCuish, and Stanton.* In union circles, rumour had it that the police action was 

"premeditated and prearranged" and that a subsequent attack, this time on the picket 

camp, was about to be la~nched.~  In an urgent telegram to Cameron, Stanton urged the 

strikers to take "all measures necessary to repel."1•‹ There was no subsequent attack by 

police, however, only' the mass arrest of 23 union members on charges of unlawful 

assembly and rioting. The IWA's allies were quick to show their support for the besieged 

local. The morning after the riot, 40 members of the Pulp and Sulphite Workers Union 

(PSWU) in Powell River arrived in Blubber Bay to offer comfort for the strikers. "Our men 

are not going to put up with any more police violence," union secretary Stubby Hanson 

warned Sutherland. "If it continues, 400 of us will be back and we won't fool around with 

you bastards."ll Later that week, the PSWU sponsored a massive public meeting in Powell 

River where a crowd of over 1000 people gathered in Dwight Hall to hear Colin Cameron, 

Grant MacNeil, and Liberal MLA for Powell River Me1 Bryan speak about the events 

I" 

taking place across Malaspina Strait. Bryan attempted to defend the police and the ICA 

; Act, calling the legislation the 'best start the province had yet made toward governmental 
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interference in labor disputes."12 Amidst persistent calls for his resignation and chants of 

"we want Cameron," Bryan cut his speech short, and the popular CCF MLA stepped to the 

rostrum. The boos gave way to a thunderous ovation. "Drunken scabs are running hog 

wild at Blubber Bay," Cameron said. He went on to pillory Bryan for his failure to act on 

behalf of his constituents and called for a full judicial enquiry into the conduct of the police 

at Blubber Bay. As Cameron and Bryan sparred in Powell River, over sixty seine boats 

carrying 450 fishermen pulled into Blubber Bay and dropped anchor, clogging the small 

harbour until early the next morning.13 With their roving searchlight beams the fishermen 

looked for scabs upon the rocky shore. It was a powerful act of solidarity; indeed, it was 

an attempt to hold strike breakers in the spotlight of public criticism and disgust. Later, 

as the seiners pulled away, the lead boat "let out a raucous screech" from its horn 

indicating that they "would be back if needed."14 

While the government wharf was the primary theatre of violence during the strike, 

the struggle to keep replacement workers from Blubber Bay was extended to the high seas 

the morning before the public meeting in Powell River. That day McLennan, Stanton, and 

Grant MacNeil were travelling to Blubber Bay on board the Chelohsln to brief strikers on 

the most recent legal and political developments in the strike. "While the three of us were 

discussing [our] reports after supper in our small cabin, Tod got up and left," Stanton 

recalled later. "He was a big man, powerfully built. After an absence of not more than two 

minutes, he returned and washed his hands a number of times as we went on talking."15 

While he was out on deck, McLennan had discovered three men with lime on their shoes.16 

They were replacement workers. He beat them up. Shortly thereafter, a police launch 
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pulled alongside the and there, in the white glow of the cabin lights were 

McWhinney, Grieg, and Dawson, the "would-be scabs," lying unconscious on the deck.17 

McLennan was taken by police and charged with causing "grievous bodily harm," joining 

a long list of unionists already on the court docket. Grieg and McWhinney were taken to 

St Luke's Hospital for treatment18 and days later, the Town Crier provided McLennan's 

exploits with front page coverage: "Gangster Tactics Allegedly Used Aboard C h e l o h .  1119 

The violence of 17 September and subsequent demonstrations of working-class 

solidarity prompted the Provincial Police to step up their surveillance of suspected 

"subversives" both in Powell River and Vancouver. Informants were particularly 

concerned with the "Left Wing" element of the PSWU, the "Chinese Communists," the "old- 

time militants" and the "20 or so 'reds' now returned from [the civil war in] Spain" who are 

looking to get 'back into the 'fray'...."20 The skid road area of Vancouver was under close 

scrutiny, specifically, "Con Jones' gambling hall, 50 West Cordova St., 130 West Hastings 

and in fact any place that idle 'Left Wingers' hang out."21 The police feared that the riot 

at Blubber Bay "was just the beginning of trouble up there" and that "a general strike of all 

"Woodworkers' Union" (CIO) [was] being urged and 'Trades Unions' [were] being 

approached to back up the strike Committee [in Vancouver]."" 

But there would be no general strike. As September came to a close, 15 of the 

original 23 unionists charged with unlawfid assembly and rioting were committed to trial, 

while others faced charges of assault and causing grievous bodily harm.23 Among those 

arrested were the men who brought the union to Blubber Bay including local leaders Hole 

and Gardner, as well as members of the District Council responsible for the co-ordination 
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of relief and broadening support amongst the union's progressive allies. As a result, the 

strike was nearly decapitated. There were but a handful of pickets left in Blubber Bay and 

the company's lime production was on the rise. Even the sawmill, which had been closed 

since the strike of 1937, was exporting small quantities of lumber to regional markets. The 

District Council responded to the state's offensive by pressing counter-charges against the 

scabs for their participation in the melee and Constable Williamson for an alleged beating 

of unionist Robert Gardner. In addition to weakening the IWA's campaign on the ground, 

the arrests shifted the union's struggle from the community to the courts. The trials of the 

Blubber Bay 15 provide another example of the state's relentless attack on the collective 

opposition mounted by Local 163; they are the focus of this chapter. 

With mounting fears that the court cases might bankrupt the poverty-stricken 

District Council, the strike committee in Vancouver instructed the remaining pickets to 

apply for government relief in order to supplement their paltry strike pay and elected to 

re-open negotiations with PacLimeF4 On the advice of Judge Charles McIntosh, the former 

chair of the Arbitration Board, the Attorney-General postponed the trials. McIntosh feared 

that the court cases might revive the "bitterness" of the past and effectively "prejudice 

possible ~ettlement."~~ On 5 October the strike and relief committee nominated Colin 

Cameron to lead a new bargaining team which consisted of Hole, Stanton, Arne Johnson, 

and Frank Lunds t r~m.~~  With International President Pritchett in attendance for the first 

- time since the strike began, they drafted a "memorandum of conversation" that outlined 
f 

j the conditions under which the union would agree to resume negotiations with PacLime. 
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would it "stand in the way of [the] men returning to The union's position had 

changed significantly since June when it rejected the Arbitration Board's unanimous 

decision because it failed to recognize the IWA as the sole collective bargaining 

representative. In the 'face of employer intransigence and state repression, demands for 

union recognition atrophied and the reinstatement of blacklisted workers emerged as the 

single most important issue. Clearly, the union was on the defensive. 

In response to the union's revised position, company officials agreed to rehire only 

12 of the 106 employees currently out on strike.28 Of the 12 men guaranteed reinstatement, 

not one was among the 27 union men dismissed after the 1937 strikez9 because they were, 

after all, the men responsible for initiating the struggle to establish a union in Blubber Bay. 

The new secretary of the District Council, Frank Lundstrum, was irate. "It is clear that you 

are anything but sincere in your professed desire to negotiate, no self-respecting union 

could accept an offer.such as yours," he wrote to H.I. Bird.30 It was a message later 

repeated on radio station CKMO as the union borrowed five minutes of airtime from the 

People's A d v m  to expose "the attitudes of the company" and their attempt to "destroy 

the morale of the men by insincere  negotiation^."^' Despite optimistic reports from Jack 

Hole that the company's "absurd offer only served to strengthen the morale of the men," 

the utter failure of the ICA Ad to facilitate a settlement, the upcoming trials, and the onset 

of winter, did not bode well for union members and their supporters still trying to "hold 

the fort" in Blubber Bay.32 

Meanwhile in Victoria, the CCF wasted no time in pushing for a full judicial inquiry 

into the Blubber Bay debacle.33 With sworn affidavits in hand, Colin Cameron accused the 



provincial police of recruiting strikebreakers for PacLime, failing to protect unionists from 

scab violence, and carrying out an attack on the union picket line. According to one 

statement, during the strike Sergeant Sutherland, who in addition to his duties as a police 

officer was also a relief inspector, secured employment at Blubber Bay for several 

unemployed men from Gibsons and S e ~ h e l t . ~ ~  The "provincial police were used to carry 

out the anti-labor policy of the Pacific Lime Company," Cameron told the House, "that is 

as plain as the nose on one's face."35 His tirade against the police was given plenty of ink 

in one of the Vancouver dailies: 
I 

Mr Cameron does not look like the kind of man to fight the class war. If you 
were to close your eyes you would think his accents were those of an English 
barrister, practising in rather dull civil suits .... But when he gets out of his 
memorized purple passages, when he gets going on the class war, he makes 
you think of the insistence of a terrier that won't be shaken off .... This wasn't 
the traditional pointing with pride and viewing with alarm, the pumped-up, 
synthetic party stuff. This was the stuff of class struggle, the basic economic 
issues that ... are being fought out ... all over the world today. It wasn't 
pleasant to have reality thrust upon us so suddenly like this.36 

Harold Winch likened the behaviour of the police on 17 September to the rise of fascism 

in Europe. Dictatorship "always commences with an attack on the liberties of the people 

and the answering of their needs with force," Winch told the House, "just as these things 

forced it in Europe, we can see it travelling through Canada."37 In a speech to party 

faithful in Vancouver, &ant MacNeil compared the situation in Europe -- 'Chamberlain's 

dickering with the dictators" - with the strike at Blubber Bay, remarking that it was crucial 

"0 "[observe] the principles of democracy in our own back yard, before we try to talk about 
L 
L 

them intemati~nall~."~~ It was a position echoed by Fergus McKean, Provincial Secretary 

of the Communist Party: "Hitler tactics must not be tolerated here. Organized labor in BC 
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must rally as one man to the support of the Blubber Bay workmen. Everyone who believes 

in civil liberties must add his voice to the protest."39 

Despite the CCF's impressive show in the House and a strong recommendation by 

the Attorney-General for an investigation into the conduct of the police, the Premier 

defended Sutherland and his officers against the "subversive elements" at work in Blubber 

Bay.40 "Our police are an important organization. They command the respect of the 

public," he announced in the House, "what kind of police do you think you'd have if they 

were afraid of a judicial inquiry every time they acted."41 The Premier went on to chastise 

the "real enemies [of] the general public welfare" who were willing to go to any "extreme," 

including the fabrication of affidavits, to "gain control and subrogate the rights and civil 

liberties of our people to the control of ruthless  extremist^."^^ It was a position echoed by 

the Minister of Labour, who accused the IWA of scuttling the honest work of the 

arbitration board by taking "the matter into their own hands."43 

The public debate between the Liberals and CCF traded heavily on the distinction 

between fascism and Comrndsm. While Cameron and Winch endeavoured to tap public 

anxiety concerning the spectre of Hitler and the possibility of another European war, 

Pattullo's trenchant defence of the police was rooted in the collective sense of uncertainty 

which gripped residents of British Columbia after the "Bloody Sunday" riots which took 

place in June 1938. For six weeks, hundreds of unemployed men occupied the Vancouver 

Art Gallery, Post Office, and Hotel Georgia in Vancouver to protest the conditions of work 

camps and low levels of relief. Despite government promises of a negotiated settlement, 

the protest was quashed by police and the disillusioned protesters went on a rampage 
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through the streets of d~wntown.~" Days later, the Mayor of Vancouver, George Miller, 

asked city residents to stand with him in opposition to the "Communists" and 

"revolutionaries" bent on "disrupting the peace and defying the police."45 The Mayor 

certainly understood the symbolic power of the riot, and later that year it was the 

watchword of his campaign for re-election: "Forward Vancouver: PROGRESS OR 

CHAOS."46 Similarly, for Pattullo, the images of bloodied tin-canners, a blanket of broken 

glass, and the pernicious presence of Communists provided a stunning example of just 

how close Vancouver was to the edge of upheaval and the need to maintain police . 
authority during this period of ~ncertainty.~~ Indeed, it was believed that a judicial 

inquiry would seriously weaken the power of the police at a time when the government 

needed it most, especially, given the Communist threat, if they were required to perform 

similar duties in the future. 

While Pattullo took to the rhetorical ramparts to defend law and order, Sergeant 

Sutherland, Oswald Peele, and others connected with the alleged recruiting of strike 

breakers filed affidavits with Stipendiary Magistrate Parkin in Powell River. In his signed 

statement, Sutherland steadfastly denied Cameron's allegations: "I understand it is a relief 

officer's duty to contact employers with a view to getting employment for relief recipients. 

This is exactly what was done and after the strike was declared no men were recruited by 

me." According to the statements made by Peele and Constable John Melville Hicks of 

Powell River, however, Sutherland attempted to locate additional unemployed men on 7 

June, five days after the strike began.48 An examination of Sutherland's own police reports 

reveal that he recruited 14 relief recipients to work in Blubber Bay in April of 1938.49 While 
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it was not until 2 June that Local 163 voted to go on strike, it is important to recall that in 

April several men were dismissed for union activity. In this regard, by assisting PacLime 

in its efforts to secure non-union labour, Sutherland helped to enforce the company 

blacklist. In fact, it wasathis discrimination against union members which was responsible, 

at least in part, for the dispute at Blubber Bay to begin with. Thus, Pattullo's defence of 

the police and public denunciations of the Communist "evil-doers" masked a police force 

intimately involved in union busting. Indeed, his carefully selected words displaced all 

questions concerning the utter failure of the ICA Act to recognize working people's right 

to organize while simultaneously valorising the police as the defenders of peace, order, 

and good government. It was a pattern of debate which would be replicated at the trials 

of the Blubber Bay 15, as the state attempted to diffuse the threat -- both real and perceived 

-- posed by organized labour and maintain its legitimacy during this period of intense 

scrutiny and potential upheaval. With no chance of a judicial investigation and the collapse 

of negotiations between the IWA and PacLime, the Crown moved to have the strikers 

brought immediately to trial. In order proceed as efficiently and effectively as possible, 

the Attorney-General Gordon Wismer, decided to try the Blubber Bay strikers as a 

The decision to charge the unionists with unlawful assembly and to proceed with 

a group trial is significant because it allowed the Crown to attack the collective nature of 

the workers' action, and by extension, the basis of the union. Like the intimidation of 

unionists within the community, the law of unlawful assembly was about the elimination 

of dissident political practice; it was about who could advocate what, and perhaps more 

importantly, where. The Attorney-General had the option to proceed with charges of 



common assault against key players in the strike, but it was the public d collective 

nature of the workers' actions, not the injuries sustained by specific individuals, that posed 

the greatest threat to constituted authority and therefore deserved to be prosecuted and 

severely punished. For the Crown, the trials of the Blubber Bay 15 served two important 

objectives: they successfully eliminated the subversive threat at Blubber Bay and sent a 

powerful message to British Columbians, specifically "irresponsible" trade unionists, about 

the dangerous and illegitimate nature of mass action. With this in mind, it is not 

surprising, then, that the Premier chose to raise the red bogey in an attempt to publicly 

ridicule and delegitirnise the union's struggle. Without question, these trials were deeply 

political; understanding how those politics worked is the focus of this discussion. 

Upon hearing of the Attorney General's intention to try the men as a group, Crown 

counsel Angelo Branca informed Wismer that since the strikers were charged separately 

and committed to trial at the preliminary hearings as individuals, the Crown could not try 

them as a group. It may be more convenient, he told Wismer, but it could result in the 

"misdirection and misreception of evidence" against the defendants and, upon appeal, a 

mistrial.51 Branca was no friend of the Blubber Bay strikers; John Stanton certainly did not 

care for him, often referring to him as "that fascist."52 In "view of the seriousness of this 

trouble in the Province," to try the strikers as a group was certainly preferable, Branca 
* 

wrote; however, in this particular case it was not entirely Wismer rejected Branca's 

position, citing an obscure precedent which held that the court may simply amend such 

technical "defects" contained in the indictments and "proceed with the Thus, the 
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proceedings against the Blubber Bay 15 would continue as planned: one striker would be 

tried alone as a test case, followed by the remaining offenders in groups of four. 

For the union, the effect was this: since the same jury would hear each of the 

Blubber Bay cases, witnesses would be forced to admit taking part in "various [aspects ofl 

the melee which would have a tendency to influence the jury" in their own 

Moreover, the composition of the groups would have a profound effect on the jury's 

perception of each individual defendant. Consider the group of Jack Hole, Joe Jacobs, 

Robert Gardner, and Roy Abercrombie, Stanton said to Colin Cameron, 

as you know, ...J acobs has ... a lengthy record, which dates back to his time 
before he entered the Labor [sic] Movement. The obvious intention in trying 
him together with the three others is to secure a conviction of Hole and 
Gardner[,] the leading members of the union.56 

The arrested strikers filed a petition with Wismer, requesting that he use his "good office 

to have these cases tried individually so that justice may [be] administered in a fair and 

impartial manner." 57 Their request was denied. On 12 November 1938, the first unionist, 
* 

Ronald MacDonald, appeared before Justice Denis Murphy at the Fall Assize. 

A criminal trial is a highly structured, dramatic affair. At the front of the court room 

is the judge, elevated and clad in a dark robe, who looks on, as the lawyers, also dressed 

in dramatic costume, parade before the court and weave their elaborate tales of guilt and 

innocence. In this particular case, Murphy's reputation as an extremely learned and 

devoted guardian of law and order imbued the highly mannered proceedings against 

MacDonald -- an alleged Communist -- with an added sense of gravity and importance. 

Murphy, who was appointed to the Supreme Court in 1909, was also a one-time Liberal 



member of the provincial legislature and lecturer in constitutional law at the University 

of British Columbia (UBC).58 The supporting cast in this legal drama consisted of two 

people that Murphy was very familiar with: Counsel for the Crown was Angelo Branca, 

a former acquaintance of Murphy's from UBC; and Paul Murphy, his son, who was 

Branca's assistant.59 The Blubber Bay strikers were represented by E.A. Lucas and John 

At a criminal trial, both the Crown and the defense provide an account of "what 

happened," and in doing so each "reconstructs the facts and redefines the law so as to give 

the story [of what took place] a particular meaning."" Or, as one scholar has observed, 
t 

"judges and jurors are not witnesses to the events at issue; they are witnesses to stories 

about the events."61 In the end, however, one story, or legal narrative, is accepted, 

approved and "transformed into fact" while others are "distrusted, rejected, found to be 

untrue, or perhaps not heard at What makes a particular account of "what 

happened" more believable than another? Many writers have argued that the most 

effective legal narratives possess a poetic quality, not in form, but in content.* Like a good 

poem, a powerful legal narrative connects with a judge and jury in a compelling, visceral 

way. As John Steffler reminds us, when narratives 

catch and burn as we want them to, they are taking us back to the first 
recognition and naming of a thing, to something like childhood wonder, a 
sense of our own lives and the surrounding world as possessing depth and 
being charged with meaning and potential discoveries, a sense of energized 
understandingH 

As the Blubber Bay trials reveal, however, that poetic quality, the jurors' "energized 

i understanding" of the dockside riot, pivoted on notions of class difference. It was the 
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Crown's remarkable ability to construct the struggle for unionization at Blubber Bay as a 

clash between the forces of law and order and the chaos associated with collective 

working-class action which made their case believable. Indeed, by weaving a narrative 

which connected the details of 17 September with a reality the jurors (and public) could 

see and feared to lose with the rise of the CIO, the Crown successfully convicted twelve 

of fifteen picketers. 

While a lawyer's imagination and rhetorical skill are essential to constructing a 

convincing legal narrative, such stories are often held tightly in check by the institutional 

framework, rules of evidence, and the provisions of the criminal statute in question. In 

order to secure a conviction of unlawful assembly, for example, the Crown needed to 

demonstrate that at least three people congregated on the wharf with a common purpose 

in mind and that members of the community who possessed "reasonable courage and 

firmness" were convinced that a breach of the peace was imminent. Thus, the Crown's 

legal narrative could not be just any old tale, but one which satisfied the conditions 
4 

necessary for conviction. In addition to the legal forms set out by the criminal law, such 

stories are also shaped by other legal conventions, such as the judge's intervention in the 

trial and, perhaps most profoundly, by the charge to the jury. It is in this final address that 

the judge sets out what is important, what is not, and what is at stake in the trial. Taken 

together, both legal forms and the traditions of the court have a profound impact on the 

making of a legal narrative, and, by extension, the meting out of "justice." As Kim Lane 

Scheppele has observed: "To make sense of law and to organize experience, people often 

tell stories. And these stories are telling."65 
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Like Pattullo's pious cant in the House, the prosecution's case against MacDonald 

was rooted in a defence of the police, and by extension, the need for law and order in 

society. Not surprisingly, then, Branca and Murphy placed great emphasis on the 

testimony of provincial police officers, in particular Sergeant Sutherland. Sutherland 

spoke at length about the tense relations between pickets and police which characterized 

the fourteen month labour dispute on the island. He alleged that the pickets often used 

"abusive and insulting language in the hopes that the officers would lose control of 

themselves." "We are accustomed to such tactics," he wrote in his police report, "and 

expect nothing better from the mob when they get excited."66 Given the pickets' past 

behaviour, Sutherland arranged to have five extra officers on hand for 17 September, 

increasing the Blubber Bay contingent to ten. 

On the night of the riot, "I planned to keep the pickets on one side of the dock and 

the workmen, if they came down [from the boat], ... on the other side of the dock, with the 

police between them," the Sergeant told the court. "The idea would be to avoid trouble.'"j7 

As the boat pulled alongside the wharf, Robert Gardner shouted to its passengers in an 

attempt to identify potential scabs6' at which time Constable Williamson took Jack Hole 

by the arm in order to clear a safe passage for the scabs. While Hole was being dragged 

to "his side" of the dock, the union leader turned to the crowd and announced, "the dock 

is Shortly thereafter, amidst pushing and shoving, a punch was thrown and the 
. 

melee started. It was then, over by the equipment shed, that he noticed Constable Ellis 

being dragged off by the pickets and savagely beaten. The Sergeant went on testify that 

it was only after the pickets refused to clear the dock that he authorised another constable 



to use tear gas to restore order. As the pickets scrambled up the road to escape the choking 

gas, they showered replacement workers with rocks, who, by this time, were cowering 

behind a garage. And where was MacDonald in all of this? According to Sutherland, "I 

saw him among the pickets on the wharf."70 

Sutherland's testimony provided a solid factual base for Branca and Murphy upon 

which they would mdd their rhetorical superstructure. For the prosecution, the police 

were honourable men placed in a situation of great danger and thus were forced to quell 

the disorderly pickets with tear gas. It was an image furthered by Constable Daniel 

MacDonald, who testified that only provincial police intervention saved employees of the 

Pacific Lime Company from serious injury at the hands of the union pickets. It was a 

compelling revelation, one which both Vancouver dailies turned into headlines: 

"Provincial Police Action Saved Workers" wrote one; "Only Police Saved Blubber Bay 

Workers," the other.71 

For the most part, the coverage of the trials in both the Sun and the Province was 

unspectacular, at times only revealing who testified and when the case was scheduled to . 
conclude. When the police were battling the forces of evil, however, the daily court 

columns ballooned with the all the sordid details. This was particularly true after 

Constable Ellis testified that he was beaten unconscious by several of the pickets. Under 

a cut-line which read "Constable Says Boot In Stomach Knocked Him Senseless," the 

Province reported his evidence at length: 

Roy Abercrombie grabbed hold of my riot stick and twisted the thong. 
Others pushed me from behind. I got pulled into the shed and there was 
quite a struggle. I went down. They began kicking me. I believe the 



accused was one of the men .... Eventually I was kicked in the stomach. That 
was the last thing I remember. I came to in the police barracks7' 

The prosecution went to great lengths to further this image of the strikers as a mean and 

dangerous bunch, a motley crew of Chinese workers and known agitators for whom law 

and order was not important. The watchword here was "CIO." Whenever the union was 

mentioned, Branca was quick to remind the court that it was an affiliate of the CIO; when 

prosecution witnesses identified the defendants they made special mention of their CIO 

badges and buttons; when the arrival of strike supporters from Vancouver was described, 

Branca described them as "imported CIO pickets."73 Even the strikers' makeshift tent city 

was referred to as the "camp that the CIO One writer at the Lumber Worker 

understood the strategic importance of such references, insisting that it was a "clumsy 

attempt to paint the Blubber Bay Local 163 I.W.A. as some imported subversive, terrorist, 

organization."" 

Clearly, small details were important. Crown witnesses often spoke of the insulting 

songs that pickets sang while they marched on the dock; they were particularly taken by 

one verse which spoke of "hanging all policemen from a sour apple tree." Such songs were 

depicted as crass, derogatory, and above all, threatening. "Did you really think the strikers 

meant it when they sang they would hang you from a sour apple tree?" Lucas asked 

Constable Martin. "I did," he retorted.76 Hearing this, Stanton passed Lucas a note: "He has 

been in Blubber Bay long enough to know that there are no sour apple trees there."n 

Botanical details aside, for the Crown such seemingly innocuous ditties were symbolic of 

the pickets' disregard for constituted authority. Indeed, through such rhetorical devices, 
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the CIO had become synonymous with disorder. By importing such a rag-tag group of 

men, the Crown argued, the union had demonstrated its intention to carry out a common 

purpose, namely to cause trouble in Blubber Bay. 

In order to secure a conviction for unlawful assembly, however, the prosecution had 

to demonstrate that people of "reasonable courage and firmness" feared that the assembled 

group would "disturb the peace tumultuously." To this end, the Crown called Mrs. 

Gibson, Mrs. Sirnpson, and Mrs. Rittenhouse, long time residents of Blubber Bay, to testify 

that they were terrified by the gathering of union pickets. "When I heard the men starting 

to fight, I put out the lights," Mrs Rittenhouse said, "we thought that [the strikers] were 

preparing to raid the house. We got out three guns and ammunition. There were rocks 

falling in our vegetable garden." The P r o m  was particularly taken by the plight of Mrs. 

Rittenhouse, framing its report of her testimony with a bold headline which proclaimed: 

"Woman Tells Of Riot Terr~r."~' 

While it is likely that Rittenhouse, Gibson, and Simpson were scared at the site of 

the melee, it is also important to note that the only three women to testify against 

MacDonald were called upon to speak of their "fright" and "feelings of terror."79 This was 

no mistake. Indeed, it was a deliberate attempt by Branca and Paul Murphy to exploit 

notions of female frailty to cast the male strikers in a threatening and terrorizing light. In 

the context of the prosecution's larger narrative, the women's testimony dovetailed nicely 

with the image of the police as brave, decisive, masculine heroes, the chivalrous defenders 

of law and ~ r d e r . ~  It was necessary for the prosecution to demonstrate that the gathering 

of pickets scared local residents and with the testimony of the "sisters of misery," as 
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Stanton called them, they did so with considerable force. With the image of Mary 

Rittenhouse barricaded'in her home ready to do battle with the strikers still fresh in their 

collective minds, the jury prepared itself to hear quite a different story." 

Stanton and Lucas attempted to rework completely the Crown's narrative, arguing 

instead that the entire riot was planned by the police in a vain attempt to "clean house" at 

Blubber Bay. The Lumber W o r k  sketched the broad contours of the union's position 

with characteristic subtlety: "Police and scabs were drunk and the melee on the 

government dock ... was provoked by police and scabs and had all the earmarks of having 

been planned in advance ...."82 Judge Murphy was clearly not impressed with the defense's 

position. "Are you seriously suggesting through the witness that the police were in a 

conspiracy to provoke-a riot and ambush the strikers?" he asked.= "That was definitely 

part of the plan to get these strikers out," Lucas replied.@ 

Murphy's interjection is not at all surprising; for him, the rule of law, properly 

administered, was the handmaiden of liberty and the foundation of constituted authority. 

The "defence of [our] institutions ... is the sacred duty of every citizen," he once told the 

Washington State Bar Association, but "it is peculiarly the duty of the Judiciary and the 

Bar, ... for our calling in life, of necessity, makes us the ultimate arbiters...."@ Murphy had 

little patience for communism, socialism, "or any other "ism" that [ignored] the 

fundamental traits of human nature."86 For him, the rule of law was man's highest 

achievement; it was the essence of liberalism, of Pax Britannica. To challenge its legitimacy 

was to call into question the very basis of civilised society. Clearly, the defense's position 
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was going to be a tough sell. By taking on the police, Murphy's defenders of law and 

order, they were challenging the judge's, and indeed, PacLimels entire world view. 

The ideological divide between the judge and the union came into sharp focus 

during a small debate waged over the use of the word "scab" during the court's 

proceedings. In this particular case, Lucas was unable to use the word "scab" when 

referring to replacement workers because the court considered it an extremely offensive 

and derogatory term .which would prejudice the jury. It was position laid bare by 

Magistrate Filmore during the preliminary hearings in Powell River: "I do not want 

anything said against anybody. Scabs has been held to be a term that ought not to be 

applied .... Workers, pickets, those are proper names to use. Men are entitled to be picketers 

and workers."87 But not scabs. In union parlance, "scab" was a negative adjec t i~e .~~ Unlike 

Judges Murphy and Filmore, however, for unionists its meaning was rooted in a deep- 

seated belief in workers' right to organize, the importance of collective activity, and the 

sanctity of the picket line. In this regard, the court considered the term "scab" offensive 

precisely because it embodied an ideology anathema to what Murphy called the 

"fundamental traits of human nature." This ruling speaks to the immense power of the 
1 

court to, as one scholar has noted, "exclude and stigrnatise -- define out -- all such 

discourses [which] are inherently recalcitrant to [its] basic belief system ...."89 By 

eliminating the use of the word scab, the court naturalized the replacement workers' "right 

to work" and removed the union's political and moral questions associated with a picket 

line from the legal debate. 



I the first punch was thrown that the provincial police carried out their premeditated assault 

on the strikers. Witness after witness testified that Jack Illot, a PacLime foreman, came 

down to the dock that night with a group of replacement workers and upon meeting the 

pickets dared them "to start something." Frustrated when no one would take him up on 

such an offer, he attacked picket Cliff Melville. Shortly thereafter, Sutherland ordered that 

a path be cleared for the strikebreakers. Without further warning or hesitation, the officers 

tossed their tear gas canisters and the strikers were pushed out to the road. According to 

several witnesses, the replacement workers and the police were intoxicated. It was there, 

caught between the road and an equipment shed, that the ~~Gonists were ambushed by the 
. 

strike breakers. Lim Yim, one of five Chinese union members to testify for the defense, 

told the court that the Chinese strike breakers, some of whom were involved in the 

stoning, were wearing white arm bands so that the police could distinguish between union 

and non-union workers. The white arm bands were evidence that the police had planned 

the assault; they needed to know who to club and who to leave a10ne.~ - 

While Stanton and Lucas continued to weave their story of conflict and conspiracy, 

coverage of the trial in the Vancouver dailies began to die off. Despite the appearance of 

thirty-six defense witnesses, more than three times the number called by the Crown, the 

newspapers were satisfied with tepid stories which marvelled at the length of the trial, not 

the substance of the union's complaints?' Among the additional witnesses called by the 

defence were Mrs. Maylor and union member Blondie Colbourne who testified that on the 

night of the riot, police officers on board the Chelohsh warned that there was going to be 
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a "showdown" at Blubber BayY2 For Stanton, such ominous warnings demonstrated that 

the riot was planned well in advance. "This evidence is so overwhelming that this Jury 

MUST find that Illot started the fight," he wrote to Lucas, 

and from the fad that no damage to lives or property occurred in spite of the 
overwhelming numbers of strikers on the dock, it MUST also find that 
pickets did no more than defend themselves from an attack which was 
plainly premeditatedY3 

From this perspective, bringing support pickets to Blubber Bay did not prove a common 

intent to provoke a fight; it was simply regular and proper union pr0cedu1-e.~~ Such . 
collective activity was not inherently dangerous or illegitimate; rather, it was the context 

within which the ability to work safely and with dignity was "both realized and made 

meaningful."95 On the contrary, the police were responsible for the disturbance for they 

clearly planned the attack in advance. They, not the strikers, were the agents of disorder. 

The unionists were simply defending themselves in a vain attempt to obtain justice. 

In his 85 minute charge to the jury, Judge Murphy urged the jurors to consider the 

evidence in the "cold light of reason." Much of the testimony presented was irrelevant, he 

said. It did not matter who threw the first pmch, when the police ordered strikers to clear 

the dock, or when the tear gas bombs were thrown. Who was on strike and for what 

reasons was simply not'important. The only relevant question to ponder was whether or 

not the accused was a member of an unlawful assembly and did he participate in the 

ensuing riot? To this end, he advised the jurors to consider the change in atmosphere 

which accompanied the arrival of imported pickets and the importance of the police as 

keepers of the peace. "It is said that the police were armed with tear gas bombs, when 



disturbances occur it is the duty of the police to stop them as humanely as possible .... A tear 

gas bomb may possibly be a humane way to end a disturbance," he added. Indeed, it was 

men like Sergeant Sutherland who made it "possible for you to sleep in your beds at 
4 

With this, Murphy effectively delegitimized the defence's account of what took 

place. The notion that the police and replacement workers might have been irresponsible, 

might have gone to Blubber Bay looking for retribution, might have caused the riot, was 

completely discarded. Such a narrative clashed with Murphy's deep-seated belief that it 

was the responsibility of the police and courts to maintain authority and respect for the 

rule of law in the face of the union's challenge. "The primary purpose of a criminal trial is 

not to convict a man and punish him for wrong-doing: the primary purpose is to command 

respect for the law," he told the jurors.97 It was a position he laid bare in the Province 

earlier that week: 

Whatever theorists may say, we know from practical experience in this 
world that every man and woman has a will of his own and her own, and 
experience has taught human beings that if they are to live together it is 
impossible to live in peace unless rules be made and enforced to curtail the 
absolute exercise of individual will by every member of the 
communi ty... .The alternative ... is anarchy. You have the right to choose 
between the rule of law and the rule of force; and the rule of force -- from 
our standpoint -- is anarchy.98 

In this regard, the trial was distilled into one compelling question: might or right? Against 

the backdrop of the "Bloody Sunday" riots, it was not simply an abstract legal decision for 

the jurors, but one connected to their recent lived experiences as residents of Vancouver. 

Like the riots, the conflict at Blubber Bay was carried out by those bent on "disrupting the 
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peace and defying the police."99 Not surprisingly, then, after less than an hour of 

deliberation, the jury returned a guilty verdict on both charges of unlawful assembly and 

rioting. MacDonald was later sentenced to six months of hard labour at Oakalla prison. 

The decisions were a harbinger of things to come. 

Of the 14 remaining strikers who appeared before the Assize court, 11 were 

convicted. Two Chinese unionists were acquitted for lack of evidence -- one was not even 

in Blubber Bay at the time of the riot -- as was union supporter Stan Abercrombie, a 

PacLime employee for 21 years.lW Abercrombie was the only striker to have an employer . 
attest to his good character and, unlike the other trials, only one police officer testified 

against him. Even Stanton was perplexed by Abercrombie's acquittal. "Messrs. Rounds 

and Birchett, one of the Association Loggers, and employers of Stan ... retained Frank Hall 

to fight the case in his defence .... I understand from Stan, that Hall told him the case was 

fixed and he would be released," he told Colin Cameron. "Stan is very emphatic that there 

was no open sign of anything irregular through his trial." According to Stanton, 

Sutherland remarked that "Stan was not in the same case as Hole, and ought to be let 

off."lO' This remark speaks to the state's determination to jail union leaders in order to 

maintain law and order at Blubber Bay, a notion brought into stunning focus during 

Stanton's counter-suit ggainst the replacement workers on charges of unlawful assembly 

and rioting. 

Like the defence of Ronald MacDonald, the counter-suit hinged on the collective 

intentions of the police and strikebreakers. According to Stanton, there were more than 

three of them present on the dock, they intended to carry out a common purpose -- "in 
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cooperation with police to break the picket line" -- and persons of reasonable courage and 

firmness, namely the strikers themselves, believed that the public peace would be 

"disturbed tumult~ously."~~ The case never made it past the preliminary hearings. Judge 

Murphy did not like accusations of police wrong-doing; neither did Judge R.A. Sargent. . 
In his written decision, Sargent expressed his deep concern for the "atmosphere of 

recklessness which [surrounded] not only the laying of charges, but also the testimony of 

the various witnesses called by the Crown."lo3 "If perjury is not being committed," he 

continued, "at least there is a recklessness in giving testimony which makes me feel that 

these [charges] were laid simply by way of a counter-attack against authority."lo4 While 

it appears from Sargent's decision that the Crown had some difficulty in pulling its case 

together, his final remark reveals that at its ontological core, laws on unlawful assembly 

were deeply suspicious of collective opposition and dedicated to the protection of 

constituted authority through the enforcement of bourgeois conventions of proper public 
. 

and political behaviour. 

While the convictions of the strikers reveals that the law was often an instrument 

of gross coercion, the subsequent acquittal of Tod McLennan on charges of assault 

demonstrates that it could, at times, appear to be merciful. As Douglas Hay reminds us, 

it is this "tempering of severity with mercy" which nurtures the "bonds of obedience and 

deference" necessary to the maintenance of the law's legitimacy.lo5 McLennan was on trial 

before Magistrate Filmore in District Police Court and was certainly in a sorrowful 

position.lM Not only had he beaten up three scabs, but he was also secretary of the District 

Council,'" an unabashed and vocal supporter of the "communist" CIO, and known to local 
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police as an "imported picket" responsible for many "subversive" activities in Blubber 

B ~ Y . ' ' ~  Against the backdrop of the Assize Court trials, McLennan's fate appeared to be 

signed, sealed, and all but delivered. "I don't suppose that we could make a dicker about 

Tod's case," Jack Hole wrote to Stanton, "I don't think that he has a great deal of [hope] in 

beating the charge against him."lW 

In late November, Stanton received a letter from McLennan which indicated that 

A1 McWhinney, the prosecution's most important witness, was of dubious moral character. 

"Here is the dope," McLennan wrote, 

Mcwhinney [sic], the middle sized one with the scar on his face, and whom 
I believe will beathe chief witness, is married and has been threatened with 
arrest for living off the avails of prostitution of his own wife. In other words, 
he pimps for her at times .... She made a trip about two weeks ago to 
Cowichan Lake in company of a man now working in the district. There is 
another guy called Tony whom she took for a fur coat and a diamond ring[.] 
He worked at Camp 9 Chemainus until recently. Also at one time the pair 
played a fellow named Pierce, who works at the Elk River Timber Co, for 
four hundred dollars .... I think that if they got the idea we know all about 
everything and will use it against him in the witness box[,] his own common 
sense may induce him not identify me in court ... . 110 

Stanton immediately requested more information from the Commissioner of the BC Police 

concerning McWhinney's past record. In a brief reply, the Commissioner's office confirmed 

McLennan's findings and informed Stanton that the "information requested by you [has 

been given] to the Counsel for the Crown."''' After a short trial, McLennan was acquitted 

on the most serious ch'arges, receiving only a small fine for bruising Grieg. Stanton was 

elated with the outcome. "Wonders will never cease," he wrote to Colin Cameron, "we 

actually won a case."l12 To which Cameron replied, "Tod is the only one who has done 
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Why did McLennan get off? "I don't think Mcknnan would be such an awful ass 

as to do such a thing," the Magistrate told the court, "and I must come to the conclusion 

that the passenger that identified him was mistaken."l14 Years later in his autobiography, 

Stanton reasoned that Tod was acquitted "largely on the evidence of Grant MacNeil who 

was positive that no one could have beaten up three men in separate parts of the ship in 

so short a time - and without injury to his hands."'15 While both explanations may in part 

be true, what about the infamous letter? While what follows is only speculation, it appears 

that the Defense and Crown counsel, as well as the Magistrate simply decided to exonerate 

Mcknnan on the basis of McWhinney's questionable morality. Once the Crown was aware 

of his past exploits, his credibility as a witness simply evaporated. Indeed, living off the 

avails of prostitution represented such an egregious violation of acceptable moral and 

sexual behaviour that if it were to come up in court, the Crown's case was doomed to fail. 

Both the Crown and Defense council understood that in the moral pecking order of the 

court, prostitution ranked even below the exploits of a Communist labour leader reviled 

by Magistrates, police officers, company and state officials alike. By acquitting McLennan, 

then, both McWhinney and the Crown avoided the public embarrassment which would 

have accompanied such a sensational revelation as this, and the union finally won a case. 

At the very least, it is significant that both Stanton and McLennan assumed that such a 

discovery would improve their chances at securing an acquittal.l16 To their minds, 

sexuality mattered, and in this particular case, it might have mattered more than the 

defendant's class politics. 
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In addition to this fleeting glimpse into the gendered dimensions of legality, the 

exoneration of McLennan helped to maintain "the illusion that even the lowest citizens 

[were] equal before the law."l17 It was a notion reaffirmed by the rare spectacle of 

Constable Andrew Williamson on trial for the assault of Robert Gardner. The Attorney- 

General understood the importance of the Williamson case to the integrity of the criminal 

justice system, remarking to Colin Cameron that "it was not in [his] best interests ... or the 

police force that ... Williamson be acquitted."l18 The trial was especially important to the 

Blubber Bay strikers who, after the union's poor showing at the Assize court, had little 

faith in the law. According to Jack Hole, they were of "the opinion that [the union had] 

lost so many cases thaf there [was] little or no chance to get a square What little 

hope remained was clearly focused on the legal fate of "that sadistic cop."120 "[I hope] that 

we can put that dirty big rat Williamson where he belongs," Hole wrote to Stanton.121 It 

was a sentiment echoed in a worker's letter to the J-: "If the courts are 

just ... he will get time."122 Indeed, in order to solidify support for the rule of law, the 

Attorney-General had to reconcile "popular ideas of justice" with the protection of the 

police force.lZ Without a full judicial inquiry into the activities of the police force, Wismer 

wanted at least the illusion of reform, not the thing it~e1f.l~~ 

At the time of the trial, Gardner was in Oakalla prison after his conviction for 

unlawful assembly. He was not in good health. "Have you seen Bob? Expected a letter 

from him last night but did not receive one. Hope he isn't sick worse than he was," his 

wife Mary wrote to Stanton just days before the trial. "Bobby is taking it pretty hard, he is 

very melancholy. Hope I can snap him out of it before I have to be in town. Bob spoiled 
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us all and now it is hard on us to be here without him."125 In union circles, Gardner's 

failing health was said to be a direct result of the beating administered by Williams~n.'~~ 

So pained was his appearance at the preliminary hearings that both the Province and % 

court reporters spoke of the great difficulty with which he delivered his dramatic 

te~tim0ny.l~~ Before Magistrate Filmore, Gardner spoke of his arrest hours after the 

confrontation on 17 September had subsided. He was taken to a company house, which 

doubled as a jail, for questioning. There were three other pickets already in custody and 

they played a game of cribbage. Then "Constable Williamson came to the door and said 

'Come here, Gardner, I want to speak with you,"' Gardner told the courts, "then he 

punched me in the ribs. Then he knocked me on the floor and kicked me twice on the 

right side .... He twisted both legs almost out of the sockets. Then he said, 'I'm going to kill 

you,' and picked up his Joe Jacobs, Ed Stewart, and Peter Bergrnan, the other three 

men being held by police that night, testified to hearing the attack and Gardner's "frantic 

calls for help."lZ9 

Both Williamsori, who testified in his own defence, and Sutherland maintained that 

Gardner had sustained his injuries during the riot, a subsequent scrap with replacement 

workers, and repeated attempts to escape from In a police report filed the day 

before Williamson's arrest, Sutherland recounted his version of the entire sordid affair: 

I asked Williamson to take [Gardner] into a room by himself because I 
wished to question him. Gardner tried to get out of this room on two 
occasions and Williamson shoved him back. Gardners [sic] ribs might have 
hit the bed, either on the first or second occasion, because it appears that 
three of them are fractured .... The man has given us a lot of trouble and is a 
known agitator. To a great degree he was responsible for the riot on 
Saturday night.13' 



It is intriguing, if not downright suspicious, that Sutherland thought it necessary to 

characterize Gardner as a known agitator. To his mind, it was an important qualification 

which was intended to undermine Gardner's credibility, or, perhaps, to justify the beating 

administered by Williamson. As Barbara Weinburger has observed, anti-communism 

within the police often provided a "taken-for-granted framework for decisions" concerning 

the proper use of force during labour disputes.132 Mary Rittenhouse certainly thought so: 

"It is deplorable of course, if he cracked the man's ribs under arrest," she wrote, "but that 

striker caused a lot of trouble this summer, and it is not improbable that he may have 

concealed injuries sustained during the riot ...in order to frame the police knowing he was 

about to be arre~ted."'~~ 

Williamson's deience was contradicted by the testimony of another police officer, 

constable Daniel MacDonald, and Dr. Murison who treated Gardner in Powell River after 

the altercation took ~ 1 a c e . l ~ ~  Officer MacDonald told the court that Gardner was in good 

physical condition when he was taken in for questioning. Murison detailed the nature of 

Gardner's condition - four fractured ribs on one side, ribs bruised on the other side, head 

and face cuts, bruises to arms and body -- and assured the judge that Gardner's injuries 

were far too serious to be the product of a fall on the dock. It was this testimony, the 

considered opinions of seemingly disinterested "independent" witnesses, which convinced 

Judge Harper that Williamson was guilty as charged. In announcing sentence, Harper 

spoke of the "civil war" in Blubber Bay and the strong opinions expressed on both sides 

of the debate. "A good policeman should be a level-headed, disciplined man," Harper said. 

"It is important to the administration and it is important to the community that the police 
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should at all times be cool-headed. This is part of their job, and the law must be carried 

out in a proper way."13' And with this, Williamson was sentenced to six months 

imprisonment at hard 1ab0ur.l~~ 

For Judge Harper, Williamson's behaviour was a case of one officer simply losing 

his cool. The events in question here were plucked from their larger social context, and 

decided as merely a conflict between individuals -- "sovereign agents of choice" -- thereby 

ignoring the larger systemic inequalities and struggles which produced the beating of 

Gardner and the dockside riot.137 In this way, like the public debate in the House which 

turned on notions of Communism and fascism, it preempted a more incisive debate or 

government investigation into the use of force and abuse of power by the police. 

Moreover, against the backdrop of the Assize Court trials, this conviction served a larger 

ideological purpose for the state in that it demonstrated the capacity of the law to be 

neutral, effective, and determinate. Taken together, Williamson's conviction, Murphy's 

pious cant about the rule of law, and Pattullo's bloated indignation over the Communist 

threat, reveal the multifaceted capacity of the state to maintain its legitimacy and the 

integrity of the rule of law in the face of an organized opposition. Indeed, Williamson's 

conviction was little more than what one observer has dubbed, an act of "public 

purification": 

With a loud blowing of horns and banging of drums, they decorate the once 
honourable gentleman with the proofs and symbols of corruption. The 
newspapers pass judgement, ... the court pronounces sentence, the stinking 
venal mess is carried off to jai l,... and the marble hall of government, cleansed 
of its impurities, regains its customary state of perfect innocence.138 



CONCLUSION 

I've got to say about politics, it's something else, what ye might call a 
variable, ye cannay predict how the beaks'll respond. Ye're aye better with 
matters of substance. Politics can make them fling away the rule book, 
especially if they've found a way to use the word violence, and it isnay up 
to them to prove there's a difference. Ye have to understand about the law, 
it isnay there to apply to them it's there to apply to us, it's them that makes 
it.' 

James Kelman 

In the wake of the criminal trials that concluded in January of 1939, Stanton 

petitioned the Ministry of Justice in Ottawa for clemency for the twelve convicted strikers. 

Since the "fracas had been prepared in advance by members of the BC Police ...in close co- 

operation with company officials," the sentences were unjust and should be commuted, he 
* 

argued.' Angelo Branca implored the Chief of Remission Services to deny Stanton's 

request. In language reminiscent of the trials, Branca described the convicted men as 

"agitators" and "ringleaders" who possessed both "bitter" attitudes and "bad character" and 

therefore should remain behind bars? From Powell River, Stubby Hanson, secretary of the 

PSWU, petitioned the Attorney-General to initiate a "democratic investigation" of the entire 

Blubber Bay affair, specifically the behaviour of the police and the origins of the now 

infamous riot, "so that the public would know who was really to blame and whether [or 

not] the convicted men got British Justice or not."4 Not surprisingly, the requests for 

clemency and a new investigation into the strike were denied. The strikers served out their 

six-month sentences and the strike all but disappeared from public view. In March of 

1939, the union voted to reject a proposed settlement that offered to reinstate only 



9 1 

seventeen of the men currently out on  trike.^ It was the last offer that the union saw. By 

the end of April, PacLime was "operating with a full or substantially normal [work] force" 

and the District Council was unable to secure any additional donations to the strike fund.6 

Despite the occasional appearance of a picket line on the dock at Blubber Bay, the strike 

was all but over. In May, the union officially called it off. 

The IWA paid dearly for the Blubber Bay campaign. Not only did it drain the 

union of its scarce human and financial resources, but it cost unionist Robert Gardner his 

life. While in prison serving his time for unlawful assembly and still suffering from the 

beating carried out by constable WilliamsonI Gardner contracted influenza and later died. 

Even today, some consider Gardner to be the first martyr of the IWA.' It is not surprising, 

then, that years later, union organizers Arne Johnson, John McCuish, and Hjalmar Bergren 

would remember the strike with some ambivalence. "It was a mistake for the IWA to get 

involved in such a strike," but once the union had done so and "overstepped the 

boundaries, the strike had to be fought," they agreed.8 Despite 11 months of struggle, the 

IWA had little to show for its trouble. This was particularly true in the area of labour 

legislation. While the strike pushed the ruling Liberals to finally amend the ICA Act to - ... 
* 

allow working people to choose international unions to bargain on their behalf, there was 

still nothing in the legislation to compel an - employer to negotiate with a union. Not only 

was it unsuccessful in its bid to sign a collective agreement, but it was unable to achieve 

its larger objective of remaking the ICA - , ,  Act I_ 
in - .. the .. image of the Wagner Act.9 This is 

perhaps what made the defeat at Blubber Bay so galling for the union leadership. As 

Stephen Gray has observed, the IWA's decision to "expend so much of its energy at this 
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one small operation can only be understood ...[ as] a struggle with the state itself ... to secure 

... the legislation that would facilitate the much larger task before it."lo Consequently, the 

union would have to wait until World War Two in order to achieve its first large-scale 

organizational breakthrou~h in BC. With the onset of the war, Ottawa assumed control 

over industries considered vital to the war effort. Ironically, the "unconditional surrender 

of ... four major [lumber] companies" to the demands of IWA Local 71 in 1943 came at the 

behest of a Federal Arbitration Board, not a board constituted under the ICA Act." 

The Blubber Bay strike reveals the multifaceted ability of the state to diffuse 

collective working-class opposition in order to protect the economic and social conditions 

necessary for capitalist accumulation. As this discussion demonstrates, the law played a - 1 

crucial role in achieving this objective, appearing at times in its coercive, ideological, and 

rhetorical manifestations. The creation of the ICA Act was an attempt by the provincial 

government to contain militant unionism through the regulation and institutionalization 

of class struggle. Against the backdrop of the CIO's growth in the US, the politics of the 

popular front period, and the obstacles to organization facing the IWA in BC, the BC Coast 

District Council accepted state intervention in labour relaticns. The leadership believed 

that unless they demonstrated their ability to organize and defend the interests of the 

province's Depression-weary lumber workers, they risked losing all political credibility. 

As the arbitration hearings demonstrate, however, embedded in the Act were a 

constellation of values and assumptions which exalte the workplace, 
--. 

naturalized the free market, and viewed workers' collective organization with great 

contempt. This particular world view did not go unchallenged. Throughout the hearings, 



the union leadership articulated a vision that held the ability to organize and bargain 

collectively as both a moral and legal right. Flowing from this notion was a demand for 

the reinstatement of workers fired for union activity, greater control over the workplace, 

and higher wages. The hearings were a strugglL-i>ho should have it, how 

much, and for what ends, a struggle that the company and state won. In the long term, - -- - 

this new regime of collective bargaining necessitated the professionalization of the union. 

It was a process which began in earnest during the jurisdictional conflicts with the AFL in 

the US and, over time, would heighten the power and influence of business agats.lab_our _ 
e 

and bureaucrats to the detriment of rank and file workers. As a result, the union 

leadership came to rely on state agencies w- and industrial - legality and not "combativity and ---- 
collectivity" for its social, political, and economic gain~. '~  As Gray has pointed out, this 

"legislative approach" created the conditions within which the bitter anti-Communism of 

the post-war period would take r00t.l~ And in the short term, the Act successfully 

prevented the unionization of PacLirne, ushering in a violent and protracted eleven-month -_ 
strike. 

In an attempt to intimidate the unionists back to work, PacLime assumed control 

over those spaces within which workers might forge the strategies and bonds of solidarity 

necessary for a successful strike. Such immense power was rooted in its ownership of 

private property. In order to restore the workers' customary rights of unrestricted access 

and mobility within the community, the union challenged the legal meaning of private 

property and public access by invoking the statutory provisions of the Company Town 

Registration Ad. For both PacLime and the union, control over space was crucial: for the 
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former, it meant the reassertion of its time-honoured position of authority in Blubber Bay; 

for the latter, control over the wharf and other strategic spaces was perhaps the only way 

to force a new collective agreement. This conflict reveals that the law was both a site of 

class stru le and p1a"jrd a constitutive role in the expression and mediation of class A 
relations in a spatial context. Moreover, it shows that residents' understanding of what 

was a "just" solution was bounded by their shared experiences as working-class people 

within the community. Indeed, as both PacLime and the provincial government 

discovered, attempts to run roughshod over traditional rights of access and mobility or 

customary work processes elicited great resistance. ---- 

Nowhere was this resistance more visible and intense than on the government 

wharf; it was a site of struggle where unionists and their supporters often clashed with 

strike breakers and police. On one occasion in late September of 1938, a dockside riot 

resulted in the arrest pf many unionists on charges of - unlawful assemblv_and rioting. 

Against the backdrop of the rise of the CIO and the "Bloody" Sunday riots in Vancouver, 

the trials of the Blubber Bay 15 were show trials; they issued a grave warning to citizens 

about the precarious and inappropriate nature of collective a e i ~ n .  It was before Judge 

Murphy that the rhetorical dimensions of the law came into striking focus. By constructing 

the struggle at Blubber Bay as a conflict between law and order and the chaos associated 

with collective working-class action the Crown secured the conviction of twelve strikers. 

Like the ICA Act and the rights of -- -- - privagroperty, - - the laws on unlawful assembly and 
-\ 

rioting were dedicated to the elimination of specific kinds of collective working-class 

action. How could the - _ _  trials be so unabashedly political without undermining the 
--. 
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legitimacy of the law? In this particular context, the idea that all people regardless of class 

position could obtain some measure of justice was preserved by the exoneration of Tod 

McLennan and the conviction of officer Andrew Williamson. The power of the law did 

not rest on coercion alone; indeed, people's continued obedience to the law rested on a 

belief that "despite their condition they [would] be treated equally before the law and that 
w 

those who administer it as well as the _ laws _. _ tj-tey enfo_r_~ are -------I ... fair."14 

By travelling to the flashpoints of class conflict -- the hearings, community, and 

courts -- we have seen the law in many forms. In the end, however, it was the coercive 

dimensions of state power that loomed largest at Blubber Bay. During the summer and 

fall of 1938, the police was a fixture in the small community: they defended company 

property; attended union meetings held in public places; monitored phone calls, recruited 

scabs; escorted strikebreakers to work; evicted strikers from their homes and bunkhouses; 

and beat picketers. The riot of 17 September 1938 and the subsequent conviction of strike 

leaders were decisive moments in the union's campaign; they redirected the struggle and 

scarce resources from the community to the courts and eventually sapped the union of all 

its strength. By emphasising the coercive dimensions of state power, I am not reducing the 

working people in Blubber Bay to victims; indeed, the actions of Yim Kee, Jack Hole, and 

Tod McLennan (to namk just a few) speak to the resilience of strikers and their supporters 

throughout this moment of class conflict. However, it is crucial to note that the state 

possessed a monopoly on the l e c m a t e  ___  use __ _ of _ _  force, _- - _ and chose, on many occasions, to 

exercise that privilege. In the context of this new collective barga-ining - regime, the violence 

at Blubber Bay provided a stunning example of the perils that awaited trade unions who 
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failed to play by the state's rules. Local 163 was caught between the legislative failings of 

the ICA Act and the time-honoured restrictions to union activity associated with both 

common and criminal law. In the end, ironically, it was the laws of unlawful assembly 

and rioting, not the ~ o d e r n  machinery of collective bargaining, which brought labour 

-to Blubber Bay. Clearly, to bring the state back in means to bring state coercion back 

as well. 

The conflict at Blubber Bay was not an isolated event, the product of bad social 

policy or a police constable "losing his cool" while out on patrol. It was rooted in the 

fundamental division which separated, and continues to separate, those who own the 

means of production from those who must sell their labour to survive. "Every object we 
- -  ----- -- - -----. 

touch comes through the work of another," labour poet Tom Wayman reminds us. "Behind 

each thing ... there is both human work and the human existence that sustains that work so 

grudgingly."15 To investigate the laws that order the organization of work, the allocation 

of its products, and the "human existence" that sustains it, then, opens a window into the 

relationships obower &pmdmtion upon which modern British Columbia was built.16 

This discussion has revealed the relationship between the state, law, and the maintenance 
--- _ 

of capitalist social relations; and, too, the transformative potential of collective working- 
-----. 

classartion. To understand the links between the two holds out the possibility of assuming 

greater control over the work that, as Wayman writes, "alters and twists and corrupts and 

fulfils those ... who go to it every day."I7 While the images that return from the summer and 

fall of 1938 are at times brutal and disquieting, we would do well to recall the immensely 

important words of Joe Hill: "Don't mourn, organize!" -_ 
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